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In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, persons needing special accommodation, a sign language interpreter or hearing
impaired to participate in this proceeding should contact the Town Clerk at (954) 434-0008 for assistance no later than four days prior to the
meeting.

1. Call to Order/Roll Call

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. CAFR Presentation for Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for Fiscal Year Ended September 30,
2020

4. Public Comment
All Speakers are limited to 3 minutes.
Public Comment will last for 30 minutes.
All comments must be on non-agenda items.
All Speakers must fill out a request card prior to speaking.
All Speakers must state first name, last name, and mailing address.
Speakers will be called in the order the request cards were received.
Request cards will only be received until the first five minutes of public comment have concluded. 

5. Board Reports

6. Council Member Comments

7. Legal Comments

8. Administration Comments

Ordinance - 2nd Reading

9. AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES,
FLORIDA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES
UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (“ULDC”), ARTICLE 10,
ENTITLED, “DEFINITION OF TERMS” TO DEFINE THE TERMS,
“VETERINARY CLINIC” AND “MOBILE SERVICES UNIT;” AMENDING
ARTICLE 45 ENTITLED, “AGRICULTURAL AND RURAL DISTRICTS,”
SECTION 045-050 “PERMITTED AND PROHIBITED USES” TO
PROHIBIT VETERINARY CLINICS, VETERINARY HOSPITALS AND

AMENDED



COMMERCIAL BOARDING AND BREEDING KENNELS AS PRINCIPAL
USES IN THE A-1 and A-2 ZONING DISTRICTS; PROVIDING FOR
CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR
SEVERABILITY; AND, PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
{Approved on First Reading - March 11, 2021}

Resolutions

10. A RESOLUT ION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, APPROVING A SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENT WITH CARLOS AND CINDY PEREZ RELATING TO THE 
CONSTRUCTION OF A FENCE AND WALL LOCATED WITHIN THE 
TOWN’S RIGHT OF WAY (QUIET TITLE CASE NO. CACE 19-004382); 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR, AND TOWN 
ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY 
TO EFFECTUATE THE INTENT OF THIS RESOLUT ION; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

11. A RESOLUT ION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, ENACTING A ZONING IN 
PROGRESS, PURSUANT TO SECTION 005-240 OF THE TOWN’S 
UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, TO FURTHER REGULATE 
ANY SUBDIVISION OF LAND ENCUMBERED BY A POWERLINE 
TRANSMISSION EASEMENT, OR THAT RESULTS IN A LOT OF LESS 
THAN 39,200 SQF. OF NET LOT AREA EXCLUSIVE OF DESIGNATED 
STORMWATER RETENTION AREA, LOCATED WITHIN THE RURAL 
ESTATES ZONING DISTRICT; ENACTING A ZONING IN PROGRESS 
FOR A PERIOD OF TIME NOT TO EXCEED SIX (6) MONTHS OR 
UNTIL THE TOWN’S REVISED REGULATIONS HAVE BEEN 
ADOPTED, WHICHEVER IS SOONER; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; 
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILIT Y; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE.

12. Approval of Minutes

a. February 11, 2021 Regular Meeting
b. February 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

13. Adjournment 
PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES 286.0105, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE
PUBLIC THAT IF A PERSON DECIDES TO APPEAL ANY DECISION MADE BY THIS
COUNCIL WITH RESPECT TO ANY MATTER CONSIDERED AT ITS MEETING OR
HEARING, HE OR SHE WILL NEED A RECORD OF THE PROCEEDINGS, AND THAT
FOR SUCH PURPOSE, THE AFFECTED PERSON MAY NEED TO ENSURE THAT A
VERBATIM RECORD OF THE PROCEEDING IS MADE, WHICH RECORD INCLUDES
THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE UPON WHICH THE APPEAL IS TO BE BASED. THIS
NOTICE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE CONSENT BY THE TOWN FOR THE INTRODUCTION
OR ADMISSION OF OTHERWISE INADMISSIBLE OR IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE, NOR
DOES IT AUTHORIZE CHALLENGES OR APPEALS NOT OTHERWISE ALLOWED BY
LAW.
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Town of Southwest Ranches
13400 Griffin Road
Southwest Ranches, FL 33330-2628

(954) 434-0008 Town Hall
(954) 434-1490 Fax 

Town Council
Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor

Bob Hartmann, Vice Mayor
Jim Allbritton, Council Member

Gary Jablonski, Council Member
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Andrew D. Berns, MPA, Town Administrator

Keith M. Poliakoff, JD, Town Attorney
Russell Muniz, MPA, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk

Martin D. Sherwood, CPA, CGMA, CGFO,  Town Financial Administrator

COUNCIL MEMORANDUM
TO: Honorable Mayor Breitkreuz and Town Council
VIA: Andrew D. Berns, Town Administrator
FROM: Martin D. Sherwood, Town Financial Administrator
DATE: 3/25/2021
SUBJECT: CAFR Presentation for Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020

Recommendation
It is recommended that the Town Council accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report,
as audited by our independent external auditors Keefe McCullough LLP CPA's for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2020, including the communications to those charged with
governance letter dated March 5, 2021. It is further recommended that the Town Council
acknowledge the effort of all Staff who finished the year in a fiscally responsible manner
helping to create a governmental activities surplus (a/k/a positive change in net position)
despite a Covid-19 pandemic laden fiscal year.

Unanimous Vote of the Town Council Required?
No

Strategic Priorities
Background
The rules of the Auditor General, Chapter 10.550, require that the financial statements be filed
as an official record at a public meeting (Exhibit A). In addition, the auditors have requested
that their letter dated March 5, 2021, identified as Exhibit B be accepted for filing with the
Town Council.
A representative from Keefe McCullough LLP will be present at the meeting.
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Fiscal Impact/Analysis
The Fiscal Year 2020 annual report is the fourteenth annual report prepared since Fiscal Year
2007.  During the first three years of the Town’s existence (FY 2000-2002) as well as for FY
2004 and FY 2006 the Town only prepared and presented basic financial statements. While
basic financial statement meets the minimum standard of reporting it does not provide the
extensive financial information and transparency that the Town Council requires, and that the
Administration has been directed to provide. Additionally, the independent auditing firm of
Keefe McCullough LLP has provided the Council with a communication letter detailing,
amongst other matters, that the audit was performed in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards and government auditing standards.
 
A key favorable financial highlight is at September 30, 2020 the unassigned fund balance
(reserves) for the General Fund is $4,153,041 (page 17), or 31% of total general fund
expenditures and net transfers for FY 2020.  Therefore, the Town continues to exceed the
minimum standard as recommended by the Government Finance Officers Association
(GFOA) of 16.7%.
 
In consideration of the complexity of financial information included in the annual report as well
as the limited financial knowledge that many of our citizens may have, the following is a list of
annual report highlights with a brief explanation and the related annual report page references:
 

1 .  Of great importance is the Independent Auditors’ Report (pages 1-3) which
continues to reflect an unmodified ("clean") audit opinion, and which is the highest
assurance given that overall, in all material respects, the Town's financial statements
were prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America and are not misstated. An unmodified audit opinion gives comfort to
the Town Council and the citizens of our community that the Town's finances are being
accounted for and reported properly.

 
2 .  The first major section of the Annual Report (pages 4-14) is the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis which introduces the Town's basic financial statements (pages
15-23). The main elements of this analysis are as follows:

 
a.    The Town's assets exceed liabilities by $58,641,143 (net position). This analysis
is comparable to a balance sheet in the private sector and we are in a net surplus
position overall. (Chart page 7, detail page 15).  During FY 2020, net position
increased $1,432,905 and $148,533 for both governmental activities and enterprise
activities, respectively.  The governmental activities increase is due to a combined
positive net increase of $1,116,697 in current year total assets and deferred outflows
added to a favorable decrease of $316,208 in total liabilities the primarily result of
scheduled capital project additions along with anticipated debt service amortization.
The enterprise activities increase is due to: 1. The additional recovery from Federal
and State authorities for vegetative debris collection, disposal, monitoring,
financial/grant assistance and, 2. Lower than anticipated emergency line of credit
interest costs due to early and full repayment of which both factors are attributable to 
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Hurricane Irma.
 

b .    The restricted Fund Balance for Fire control, within the General Fund, 
decreased $42,948 to $292,113. This resulted from  Public Safety - Fire modular
capital project safety improvements utilizing $10,819 plus acquisition of
approximately $14,000 in volunteer fire SCBA mask fit certification equipment added
to $7,409 of increased volunteer stipends awarded and finally, approximately $10,720
combined of lower collected fire assessment revenue which was favorably offset by
lower than budgeted fire administration and volunteer fire expenditures.

 
c .    Our one major enterprise fund – Solid Waste showed operating income of
$295,382 (page 9 & 22).

 
d .    Outstanding debt reflected in the CAFR favorably decreased $2,350,130 (net)
primarily due to FEMA and F-DERM reimbursements received for Hurricane Irma
enabling the full repayment of the emergency line of credit (LOC) in the amount of
$1,761,698. The remainder decrease of $588,432 resulted from normal principal
amortization. Also, included in debt is borrowing for our parks, recreation and open
space land acquisitions and improvements, Town Hall land & building acquisition and
on-going improvements, a major public safety vehicle purchase as well as for
transportation and drainage improvements (page 13).

 
e .    The General Fund (ad valorem tax supported) transferred $2,618,208 to the
following: Transportation fund ($1,322,404) primarily for TSDOR and other
drainage improvements as well as for operations, Capital Projects fund ($72,000)
for capital projects, Volunteer Fire Department fund (component unit, $195,013) to
fund volunteer fire operations, and Debt Service fund ($1,028,791) for debt service
principal and interest payments due in accordance with debt covenants (page 33).

 
3 .  The financial management and accounting policies of the Town are described in
detail on pages 24-41 of the CAFR. These descriptions are included in fourteen
"Notes" which describe financial management processes including how funds are
invested, how we depreciate assets, how we handle receivables (monies owed to the
Town), details of long-term debt, risk management procedures and uncertainties
including discussion regarding the impact from the Covid-19 pandemic and
commitments and contingencies.
 
4 .  The Budgetary Comparison Schedule and related notes are detailed in pages 42-
44. All major General Fund audited expenditures were under budget in every area
except for Covid-19 emergency services ($11,502) by a net total of $510,025 with the
majority derived from general government ($267,077), capital outlay ($165,962), public
safety ($38,958) and community services and development ($36,086). While individual
small items may cause consternation to some, Town Staff performed in a fiscally
responsible manner to hold the line on expenses even during a pandemic inflicted fiscal
year. Ultimately, the Town experienced an excess of revenues over expenditures of
$490,574 and when added to transfers-out of ($2,507) equals $488,067 and is
described as a positive net budgeted variance change in General Fund Fund Balance.
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5.  In addition to the general, transportation, capital projects and enterprise funds there
are two "non-major" governmental funds (Volunteer Fire, a component unit and Debt
Service) that are reported on page 45-46. Both funds continue to have positive fund
balances and Staff watches expenditures closely.

 
6 .  The Statistical Section of the CAFR describes financial trends, revenue and debt
capacity, demographics and operating information. This information covers up to 10
years of available data and is invaluable to anyone who wants to analyze trends,
revenue and debt capacity, demographics and operating information over many years
(Page 49-79). Specifically, the reader should look at the chart (page 56) which shows
Governmental Revenues higher than the 2013 level (by $4,092,734) primarily due to
and dedicated for an implemented TSDOR long-term capital project. Therefore,
excluding taxes increased for TSDOR and mandated public safety contractual
increases, we are operating with limited resources while still improving and/or
maintaining services. Additionally, a comprehensive exhibit on page 73 provides
assurance that all the Town’s debt service anti-dilution/covenant coverages are in
excess of the minimum debt service coverage requirements.

 
7 .  For the eighth consecutive year, of which is the second sequential under the
oversight of Keefe McCullough CPA’s, Town Management is proud to report that the
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting (page 80-
81), the Management Letter in accordance with the Rules of the Auditor General of the
State of Florida and compliance with section 218.415 Florida Statutes (page 82-84)
identified no material weaknesses, significant deficiencies in internal controls or
otherwise.

 
8 .  Finally, it is a pleasure to report that the Town received the Certificate of
Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting from the Government Finance
Officers Association (GFOA) for the previous Annual Report covering fiscal year
2019. (Page viii). Additionally, it is believed that the current 2020 Annual Report
continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s requirements and will be
timely submitted to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate award.

 

Staff Contact:
Martin D. Sherwood, Town Financial Administrator
Richard E. Strum, Controller

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Upload Date Type
SWR FY 20 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report-
EXHIBIT A 3/10/2021 Exhibit

FY20 KMC comm to those charged with govern-EXHIBIT B 3/10/2021 Exhibit
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EXHIBIT A
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March 5, 2021 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Vice Mayor, Town Council, and the Citizens of the Town 
of Southwest Ranches, Florida: 
 
We are pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the 
Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida (the Town), for the fiscal year ended September 30, 
2020. Although Florida Statutes requires that every general-purpose local government 
publish within nine months of the close of each fiscal year a complete set of audited 
financial statements, the Government Finance Officers' Association (GFOA) recommends 
that local governments publish same within six months. Therefore, in addition to meeting 
legal requirements, the report represents the Town's continued strong support of full 
financial disclosure in the timeliest manner. This philosophy is reflected by the informative 
financial analysis provided by the Town's Finance Department and the exhibits and 
statistical tables included herein. The financial statements have been audited by Keefe 
McCullough, Certified Public Accountants. The independent auditor has issued an 
unmodified opinion that this report fairly represents the financial position of the Town in 
conformity with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  
 
The CAFR's role is to assist in making policy decisions and to assist in providing 
accountability and transparency to the citizenry by: 
 

 Comparing actual financial results with the legally adopted budget, where 
appropriate; 

 Assessing financial condition and results of operations; 
 Assisting in determining compliance with finance related laws, rules and regulations; 

and 
 Assisting in evaluating the efficiency and effectiveness of Town operations. 

 
Responsibility for both the accuracy of the presented data and the completeness and 
fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the management of the 
Town.  We believe the data, as presented, is accurate in all material respects; that it is 
presented in a manner designed to fairly present the financial position and results of 
operations of the Town; and that all disclosures necessary to enable the reader to gain 
an understanding of the Town's financial activity have been included. 
 
As previously mentioned, Keefe McCullough CPA, independent auditors, have issued 
unmodified opinions on the Town of Southwest Ranches financial statements for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2020. The independent auditors’ report is located at the 
front of the financial section of this report. The Town’s financial statements have been 
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ii

prepared in conformity with GAAP as promulgated by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB). The Town’s Management Discussion and Analysis document 
(the MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditors’ report and provides a 
narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. MD&A 
compliments this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it. 
 

ACCOUNTING AND INTERNAL CONTROLS 
 

Management of the Town is responsible for establishing and maintaining an internal 
control structure designed to ensure that the assets of the Town are protected from loss, 
theft or misuse and to ensure that adequate accounting data is compiled to allow for the 
preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.  The internal control structure is designed to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The 
concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that:  
 

 The cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and  
 The valuation of costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by 

management. 
PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT 

 
The Town comprises approximately thirteen (13) square miles, with a 2019 census 
population estimate of 7,957 and is located in the southwest portion of Broward County, 
a major metropolitan area.  The Town motto since its establishment is “Preserving our 
Rural Lifestyle” but is located between the three major urban cities: Davie (population 
estimate of 106,306), Pembroke Pines (population estimate of 173,591) and Weston 
(population estimate of 71,166).  The neighboring cities provide a wealth of attractions, 
business and amenities for use by the residents of the Town.  Accordingly, the residents 
benefit from this close association with these urban neighbors because the Town does 
not need to provide for these services. 
 
The Town was incorporated on June 6, 2000.  The Town's current Charter was amended 
by the citizens on November 4, 2003, on November 7, 2006, on November 2, 2010 and 
on November 6, 2018.  The Town operates under the Council-Administrator form of 
government where the Mayor and four Council Members must live in residential districts, 
are elected at large and appoint a Town Administrator and Town Financial Administrator.  
The Town Council establishes policy for the operation of the government, enacts 
ordinances for the safety, welfare, and orderly interaction of the citizens of the Town, 
adopts a millage rate and annual budget, appoints the Town Attorney and Town Clerk, 
as well as members to various advisory boards, agencies, and authorities within the 
Town, and engages the independent auditor. 
 
The financial reporting entity (the Town of Southwest Ranches) includes all funds of the 
primary government (i.e., the Town of Southwest Ranches as legally defined), as well as 
all its component units. Component units are legally separate entities for which the Town 
of Southwest Ranches is financially accountable or the nature and significance of the 
relationship between the Town and the entity is such that exclusion would cause the 
Town’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. 
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The Town has identified one component unit: The Southwest Ranches Volunteer Fire 
Rescue, Inc. is reported as a blended component unit of the Town and its governing body 
is composed of the members of the Town Council. Additional information can be found in 
Note 1 of the notes to the basic financial statements. 
 

SERVICES PROVIDED 
 
The Town contracts for all major Town services including police, fire, emergency medical 
services, building inspections, code compliance, planning & zoning, information technology 
and solid waste & recycling.  The Town also has employees to administer all contracts, 
grants, and daily operations of the Town as well as provide basic municipal services 
including parks, recreation, and general government services. 
 

FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITION 
 
The information presented in the financial statements is perhaps best understood when 
it is considered from the broader perspective of the specific environment.  Despite the 
economic conditions and impact of most recently a Covid-19 pandemic or from Hurricane 
Irma on September 10, 2017, the Town has maintained its strong financial position 
through prudent planning and fiscal actions to reduce or contain costs. 
 
The Town has real estate sales and values with an increase as most other governments 
in Florida and in the nation; however, the Town has a better than average business cycle 
than other communities due to the composition of its economy.  Specifically, the Town 
primarily consists of an affluent residential housing stock of 2,629 units with a minimum 
one-acre and larger single-family estates. 
 
In 2019, the Town experienced a 3.63% increase in total taxable assessed value and a 
4.67% increase in 2020.  Accordingly, the 2020 total taxable assessed values exceed the 
2019 former record highest total taxable assessed valuation. 
 
The Town has made it a policy to establish reserves to offset unanticipated expenses and 
ensure that a funding source exists in the event of a setback in the continuation of positive 
economic conditions. The General Fund has an unassigned fund balance equal to 31.2% 
of the adopted FY 2021 General Fund operating budget. 
 
On a long-term financial perspective, the Town has identified all capital asset and 
infrastructure projects under a five-year capital improvement plan (CIP). This five-year 
CIP serves as a quick reference for a project timeline and identifies current and future 
funding requirements. Commencing in FY 2015, the Town implemented a Transportation 
Surface and Drainage Ongoing Rehabilitation (TSDOR) program with the goal of 
preserving and extending the life of the Town’s paved streets. The TSDOR program 
addresses improvements for every Town road over a 25+ year period. Five capital 
projects, including TSDOR have been fully or partially funded during the fiscal year 2020 
budget process. 
 
In the 2021 Session, the Florida Legislature is considering reducing or eliminating local 
business and communication service taxes as well as pushing additional costs down to 
local governments as unfunded mandates. The Town is closely monitoring these 
proposals and their potential impacts and limitations to Florida municipalities. The 
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consequences of a combination of several of the proposals being considered could have 
a significant impact on the Town’s ability to maintain and/or improve services to residents. 
 
The Town adheres to several financial policies that impact daily operations and the 
current period’s financial statements.  The Town’s budgetary and financial policies 
provide the basic framework for the overall fiscal management of the Town.  The following 
policies were used in the development of current activities. 
 
Revenue Policy: 

 
The Town maintains a diversified revenue system to avoid reliance on property taxes.  
Charges for services are being provided at full cost recovery for services for individual 
users.  One-time revenue will never be used for ongoing operating costs. 

 
Debt Policy: 

 
The Town has no General Obligation debt outstanding and believes that debt is a 
necessary and integral part of conducting its operations on a financially sound and 
equitable basis to all taxpayers. The Town reviews as well as evaluates its existing 
obligations and future borrowing needs regularly.   
 
During 2018, due to primarily vegetative debris collection and removal impact from 
Hurricane Irma on September 10, 2017, $3.7 million of the Town’s new $10.0 million 
variable rate emergency line of credit was activated with collateralization provided 
from anticipated future reimbursement from Federal (FEMA) and State (FDEM) 
regulatory authorities. In FY 2019, $1.9 million in total was received from both FEMA 
and FDEM and was appropriately utilized to pay down the outstanding balance to $1.8 
million. During FY 2020, slightly over $1.8 million was also received from both FEMA 
and FDEM and was also utilized to fully pay down the outstanding balance to zero.  
 
In 2016, the Town obtained financing for the purchase of $8,100,000 in public purpose 
Land at a 3.25% interest rate and practically simultaneously retired $1,640,000 of 
Series 2001 debt which carried a 5% interest rate utilizing general fund unassigned 
fund balance. In 2015, the Town obtained financing for the purchase of a $206,500 
Commercial Chassis Volunteer Fire Pumper vehicle while, during 2013, the Town 
refinanced a portion of its 2001 debt at a lower interest rate resulting in receiving over 
$300,000 in present value cash savings for parks, recreation and open spaces capital 
improvements. The Town also borrowed $439,139 and $360,860 in 2010 and 2012, 
respectively from a line of credit subsequently converted to a fixed note, to fund 
roadway and drainage improvements.  Finally, the Town entered into a $2,500,000 
note with a financial institution for the purpose of refunding an existing pooled 
commercial loan and to fund the move to a new permanent Town Hall building during 
2012. These fixed rate loans, except for the retired Series 2001, are still outstanding 
at September 30, 2020. 
 

LONG RANGE FINANCIAL PLANNING  
 

The Town Council has adopted a five-year Capital Improvement Program (CIP) to guide 
in the development of the annual capital budget as well as assist in its associated 
operating maintenance to achieve the long-term goal of a financially sound Town. The 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Town Council and Town Administrator 
Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Southwest 
Ranches, Florida, (the “Town”) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2020, and the related notes to 
the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 
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Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida, as of 
September 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows 
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis and the budgetary comparison information on the pages 4-14 and 42-44 be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic 
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to 
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information 
and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic 
financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.  
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures 
do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, 
combining and individual nonmajor fund statements and schedules, and statistical section are presented 
for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  
 
The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, 
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and 
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America by us. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and 
schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
 
 
The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the 
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on them. 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 5, 2021, 
on our consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Town’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
KEEFE McCULLOUGH 
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 
March 5, 2021 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 
 
 
Within this section of the comprehensive annual financial report for the Town of Southwest Ranches (the 
Town), the Town’s management is pleased to provide this narrative discussion and analysis of the financial 
activities of the Town for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020. The Town’s financial performance is 
discussed and analyzed within the context of the accompanying financial statements and disclosures following 
this section. 
 
2020 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 The Town’s assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities by $58,641,143 (total 
net position) as of September 30, 2020.   

 
 Total net position increased $1,581,438 even with including the impact of Covid-19 pandemic 

expenditures and is comprised of the following: 
(1) Net investment in capital assets of $50,076,903 includes property and equipment, net of 

accumulated depreciation and related debt. 
(2) Net position of $948,304 is restricted by constraints imposed on the Town in the amount of 

$398,610 for transportation, $292,113 and $39,024 for fire control and the volunteer fire 
department, for building $210,004, and $8,553 for public safety, respectively, all from outside 
the Town such as grantors, laws, or regulations. 

(3) The Town’s total debt decreased $2,350,130 (net) to a total of $9,659,946 due to a complete 
reduction in total emergency line of credit outstanding of $1,761,698 and normal amortization of 
$588,432. Total debt includes loans as well as notes payable. 

(4) Unrestricted net position consists of $7,615,936 that may be used to meet the Town’s ongoing 
obligations to citizens and creditors.  

 
 The Town’s governmental funds reported total ending fund balance of $7,927,315 at September 30, 

2020.  This compares to the prior year total ending fund balance of $6,877,389 showing an increase 
of $1,049,926 during the current year. 

  
 At the end of the current fiscal year, the unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was $4,153,041 

or 31% of total General Fund expenditures and net transfers for 2020.  The unrestricted fund balance 
for the General Fund was $3,939,370 or 32% of total General Fund expenditures and net transfers for 
2019. 

 
 Overall, the Town continues to maintain a healthy financial position despite the effects of a worldwide 

Covid-19 pandemic. 
 
The above financial highlights are explained in more detail in the “financial analysis” section of this 
document. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
This Management Discussion and Analysis document introduces the Town’s basic financial statements.  The 
basic financial statements include: (1) government-wide financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, 
and (3) notes to the basic financial statements.  The Town also includes in this report additional information 
to supplement the basic financial statements. Comparative data is presented to allow comparison to the prior 
fiscal year. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The Town’s annual report includes two government-wide financial statements.  These statements provide both 
long-term and short-term information about the Town's overall financial status.  Financial reporting at this 
level uses a perspective similar to that found in the private sector with its basis in accrual accounting and 
elimination or reclassification of activities between funds. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 
 
 
The first of these government-wide statements is the Statement of Net Position.  This is the government-wide 
statement of position presenting information that includes all the Town’s assets, deferred outflows, and 
liabilities, with the difference reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may 
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town as a whole is improving or 
deteriorating.  Evaluation of the overall health of the Town would extend to other nonfinancial factors such 
as diversification of the taxpayer base or the condition of the Town’s infrastructure, in addition to the financial 
information provided in this report. 
 
The second government-wide statement is the Statement of Activities, which reports how the Town’s net 
position changed during the current fiscal year. All current year revenues and expenses are included regardless 
of when cash is received or paid. An important purpose of the design of the statement of activities is to show 
the financial reliance of the Town's distinct activities or functions on revenues provided by the Town's 
taxpayers. 
 
Both government-wide financial statements distinguish governmental activities of the Town principally 
supported by taxes from business-type activities intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs 
through user fees and charges.  Governmental activities include general government, public safety, community 
services and development, parks and recreation, transportation, interest, and other fiscal charges, and finally, 
emergency services (as a result of impact from the Covid-19 pandemic). 
 
The government-wide financial statements are presented on pages 15 and 16 of this report. 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
A fund is an accountability unit used to maintain control over resources segregated for specific activities or 
objectives.  The Town uses funds to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related laws and 
regulations.  Within the basic financial statements, fund financial statements focus on the Town’s most 
significant funds rather than the Town as a whole.  Major funds are separately reported while all others are 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for nonmajor funds is provided in the 
form of combining statements in a later section of this report. 
 
The Town has two types of funds: 
 
Governmental funds are reported in the fund financial statements and encompass the same functions reported 
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, the focus is very different 
with fund statements providing a distinctive view of the Town’s governmental funds.  These statements report 
short-term fiscal accountability focusing on the use of spendable resources and balances of spendable 
resources available at the end of the year.  They are useful in evaluating annual financing requirements of 
governmental programs and the commitment of spendable resources for the near-term. 
 
Since the government-wide focus includes the long-term view, comparisons between these two perspectives 
may provide insight into the long-term impact of short-term financing decisions.   Both the governmental fund 
balance sheet and the governmental fund operating statement provide a reconciliation to assist in 
understanding the differences between these two perspectives. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements are presented on pages 17 and 19 of this report. 
 
Individual fund information for nonmajor governmental funds is found in combining statements in a later 
section of this report. 
 
Proprietary funds are reported in the fund financial statements and generally report services for which the 
Town charges customers a fee.  The Town’s proprietary fund (Solid Waste Fund) is classified as an enterprise 
fund.  The enterprise fund essentially encompasses the same function reported as business-type activities in 
the government-wide statements. 
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements are presented on pages 21 - 23 of this report. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 
 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
 
The accompanying notes to the basic financial statements provide information essential to a full understanding 
of the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the basic financial statements begin on 
page 24 of this report. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents certain required 
supplementary information. Budgetary comparison schedules are included as required supplementary 
information for the General Fund and the Transportation Fund. Budgetary comparison schedules for all other 
governmental funds can be found in the supplementary information section of this report. These schedules 
demonstrate compliance with the Town’s adopted and final revised budget. 
 
Supplementary Information 
 
As discussed, the Town reports major funds in the basic financial statements.  Combining and individual fund 
statements and schedules for nonmajor funds are presented in a supplementary information section of this report 
beginning on page 45. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN AS A WHOLE 
 
The Town’s net position at fiscal year-end is $58,641,143.  The following table provides a summary of the 
Town’s net position:  

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Assets:
  Current assets  $ 8,545,380  $ 7,221,379  $ 876,931     $ 2,499,063  $ 9,422,311  $ 9,720,442  
  Non-current assets:
 Other 359,210     359,210     -             -             359,210     359,210     

Capital assets 59,708,055 59,909,601 -             -             59,708,055 59,909,601

Total assets 68,612,645 67,490,190 876,931     2,499,063  69,489,576 69,989,253

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
  Deferred amount on refunding 28,794       34,552       -             -             28,794       34,552       

Liabilities:
Current liabilities 1,099,672  827,448     117,609     126,576     1,217,281  954,024     
Long-term liabilities 9,659,946 10,248,378 -             1,761,698  9,659,946 12,010,076

Total liabilities 10,759,618 11,075,826 117,609     1,888,274  10,877,227 12,964,100

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 50,076,903 49,695,775 -             -             50,076,903 49,695,775
Restricted 948,304     1,305,241  -             -             948,304     1,305,241  
Unrestricted 6,856,614  5,447,900  759,322     610,789     7,615,936  6,058,689  

Total net position $ 57,881,821 $ 56,448,916 $ 759,322     $ 610,789 $ 58,641,143 $ 57,059,705

Summary of Net Position
TotalBusiness-type ActivitiesGovernmental Activities
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 
 
 
The following chart reports the Town’s total net position balances from fiscal year 2011-2020. 
 

$48,959,261 

$48,656,728 

$50,052,533 

$50,584,707 

$52,289,857 

$53,941,287 

$54,394,878 

$51,261,122 

$57,059,705 

$58,641,143 

 $-

 $10,000,000

 $20,000,000

 $30,000,000

 $40,000,000

 $50,000,000

 $60,000,000

 $70,000,000

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Fiscal Year

Total Net Position

 
 
Note over the last ten years, the total net positions have increased $9,681,882 even with impacts during fiscal 
years 2018 and 2019 of two separate Hurricanes named Irma and Dorian as well as a Pandemic known as 
Covid-19 currently.   
 
Current assets in governmental activities increased while business-type activities decreased in fiscal year 
September 30, 2020.  Cash, investments, and receivables for governmental activities increased $1,324,001 
while business-type activities decreased $1,622,132.  
 
The Town continues to maintain high current ratios. The current ratio compares current assets to current 
liabilities and is an indication of the ability to pay current obligations.  The current ratio for governmental 
activities is 7.8 to 1  as compared to 8.7 to 1 at September 30, 2019.  The current ratio for business-type activities 
is 7.5 to 1 as compared to 19.7 to 1 at September 30, 2019.  Overall, the total current ratio at September 30, 2020 
decreased to 7.7 to 1 as compared to 10.2 to 1 at September 30, 2019.   The decrease was primarily due to a 
decrease in receivables ultimately collected from both the Federal Emergency Management Agency and the 
Florida Department of Emergency Management for Hurricane Irma debris collection, disposal as well as 
monitoring payments expended during fiscal years 2017 and 2018.   
 
The Town reported a positive balance in net position for both governmental and business-type activities.  
During 2020, changes in net position increased $1,432,905 and $148,533 for governmental activities and 
business-type activities, respectively.  The former is primarily due to increased building and permitting 
revenues combined with a reduction in expenses including events, non-essential travel and training resulting 
from the Covid-19 pandemic. Accordingly, the Town's overall financial position is healthy at fiscal year-end 
2020 and it has remained stable even under continued economic uncertainties from Covid-19. 
 
Note that approximately 87.0% of the governmental activities’ total assets are tied up in capital assets.  The 
Town uses these capital assets to provide services to its citizens.  The business-type activities do not have 
capital assets.  By combining governmental activities with business-type activities, the Town has invested 
approximately 85.9% of its total assets in capital assets, as presented in the government-wide statement of net 
position.   
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 
 
 
The following table provides a summary of the Town’s changes in net position: 
 

Percentage
of Total

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020
Revenues:
 Program:

Charges for services $ 4,146,292    $ 3,992,689    $ 1,714,527    $ 1,795,973    $ 5,860,819    $ 5,788,662    36.5%
Solid waste emergency
 services -               -               70,612         3,949,263    70,612         3,949,263    0.4%
Operating grants and

   contributions 12,143         124,974       -              -              12,143         124,974       0.1%
Capital grants and

   contributions 560,206       157,173       -              -              560,206       157,173       3.5%
 General:
  Ad valorem taxes 6,633,543    6,549,630    -              -              6,633,543    6,549,630    41.3%

Other taxes 1,889,816    1,877,100    -              -              1,889,816    1,877,100    11.8%
 Intergovernmental 757,808       830,865       -              -              757,808       830,865       4.7%

Investment earnings 106,353       170,060       20,098         21,248         126,451       191,308       0.8%
Miscellaneous 165,179       148,308       65                130              165,244       148,438       1.0%

Total revenues 14,271,340  13,850,799  1,805,302    5,766,614    16,076,642  19,617,413  100.0%

Program Expenses:
 General government 2,343,760    2,190,153    -              -              2,343,760    2,190,153    16.2%

Public safety 6,784,682    6,417,516    -              -              6,784,682    6,417,516    46.8%
Community services and
 development 1,731,518    1,451,377    -              -              1,731,518    1,451,377    11.9%
Parks and recreation 700,734       668,951       -              -              700,734       668,951       4.8%
Transportation 1,165,497    1,132,102    -              -              1,165,497    1,132,102    8.0%
Emergency services 12,094         4,244           16,590         126,668       28,684         130,912       0.2%
Interest and other fiscal
 charges 321,442       439,232       -              -              321,442       439,232       2.2%
Solid waste -               -               1,418,887    1,388,587    1,418,887    1,388,587    9.8%

Total expenses 13,059,727  12,303,575  1,435,477    1,515,255    14,495,204  13,818,830  100.0%
Changes in net position
 before transfers 1,211,613    1,547,224    369,825       4,251,359    1,581,438    5,798,583    
Transfers 221,292       141,060       (221,292)     (141,060)     -               -               

Changes in net position 1,432,905    1,688,284    148,533       4,110,299    1,581,438    5,798,583    

Beginning net position
 (deficit) 56,448,916  54,760,632  610,789       (3,499,510)  57,059,705  51,261,122  

Ending net position $ 57,881,821  $ 56,448,916  $ 759,322       $ 610,789       $ 58,641,143  $ 57,059,705  

Activities Total

Summary of Changes in Net Position

Governmental
Activities

Business-type

Governmental Activity Revenues 
 

The Town is heavily reliant on Ad valorem (property) taxes to support governmental operations.  Property 
taxes provided 46.5% of the Town’s total governmental revenues as compared to 47.3% in fiscal year 2019.  
Other taxes, which includes franchise and utility taxes, provided 13.2% and 13.6% of the Town’s total 
governmental revenues for fiscal years 2020 and 2019, respectively.   Additionally, because of the Town’s 
healthy financial position, we have been able to earn $106,353 in investment earnings to support governmental 
activities. 

 
March 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

 
Page 29 of 156



9

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 
 
 
Note that program revenues covered 36.1% of governmental operating expenditures as compared to 34.7% in 
fiscal year 2019.  This means that the government’s taxpayers and the Town’s other general revenues normally 
fund 63.9% of the governmental activities, primarily from property taxes, other taxes, and unrestricted 
intergovernmental revenue.  As a result, the general economy has a major impact on the Town’s revenue 
streams. 
 
Governmental Activity Expenses 
 
The following table presents the cost of each of the Town’s services, including the net costs (i.e., total cost 
less program revenues generated by the activities). The net costs illustrate the financial burden that is placed 
on the Town’s taxpayers by each of these services. 

Total Cost Percentage Net Cost Percentage
of Services of Total of Services of Total

General government $ 2,343,760 17.9% $ (2,343,760) 28.1%
Public safety 6,784,682 52.0% (4,330,148) 51.9%
Community services and
 development 1,731,518 13.3% (34,592) 0.4%
Parks and recreation 700,734 5.4% (697,826) 8.4%
Transportation 1,165,497 8.9% (605,291) 7.3%
Emergency services 12,094       0.1% (8,027) 0.1%
Interest and other fiscal
 charges 321,442 2.5% (321,442) 3.9%
Total $ 13,059,727 100.0% $ (8,341,086) 100.0%

Governmental Activities

 
The public safety expenses total gross about 52% while net of program revenues total 51.9% of costs.  The 
public safety function generated $2,446,458 in user charges and $8,076 in operating grant revenues, which 
offsets program costs. The community services and development expenditures total gross of 13.3% while net 
of program revenues total 0.4%. The community services and development function generated $1,696,926 in 
user charges, primarily from building permits, planning/zoning, engineering, and fire review fees of 
$1,687,298. The transportation expenses total gross of 8.9% while net of program revenues total -7.3%. The 
transportation function, which includes the sixth year of TSDOR capital improvements, was aided by capital 
grant revenues of $560,206 which also offsets capital program costs. A Hurricane Dorian threat entailed 
protective emergency service expenses total gross of 0.1% while net of operating program Hurricane Dorian 
FEMA and FDEM reimbursements of $4,067 also total 0.1% of costs. Other total cost and net costs do not 
differ substantially by percentage or by dollars for each service. 
 
Business-Type Activities 
 
The Town reports one major enterprise fund, Solid Waste. 
 
Total operating revenues decreased $81,446 or approximately 4.5% due to successful management and legal 
negotiations obtaining a permanent reduced residential contract life bulk disposal generation factor. This 
factor combined with all the annual collection element contract adjustments enabled Town Council to adopt 
and pass-through a net reduction in rates to customers while still retaining full cost recovery.  
Intergovernmental, non-capital grants, comprising the realization and reimbursement for FY 2017 and FY 
2018 Hurricane Irma expenditures decreased $3,878,651. Total operating expenses and all Hurricane Irma 
emergency services related expenses decreased $79,778 or almost 5.3% due to slightly higher contractual and 
recycling costs of $30,300 offset by a $110,078 reduction in and completion of all Hurricane Irma debris 
collection, disposal and monitoring expenses as compared to the prior year. The current year emergency line 
of credit interest totaled $16,267 which was $101,161 less than the prior year as the full outstanding line of 
credit was paid down with reimbursements received from federal (FEMA) and state (Florida Department of 
Emergency Management) authorities. Other operating expenses decreased by $704 in fiscal year 2020 as 
compared to fiscal year 2019 due to lower professional fees. 
 
In total, the year-to-year change in operating income decreased $102,719 and net position decreased 
$3,961,766, respectively resulting in a current year ending surplus net position of $759,322. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 
 
 
FUND ANALYSIS 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
Governmental funds are reported in the fund statements with a short-term, inflow and outflow of spendable 
resources focus.  This information is useful in assessing resources available at the end of the year in 
comparison with upcoming financing requirements.  Governmental funds reported ending fund balances of 
$7,927,315 compared to $6,877,389 at September 30, 2019. 
 
The total governmental revenues exceeded expenditures by $828,634. 
 
The General Fund revenues exceeded its expenditures by $2,562,131 as compared to $3,196,797 for fiscal 
year 2019.  Transfers in from Solid Waste of $251,160 as well as transfers to other funds totaling $2,618,208 
offset this excess.  The details of the General Fund’s financial operations are discussed below. 
 
Governmental funds report total fund balance of $7,927,315.  Of this year-end total, $948,304 is legally 
restricted for: transportation ($398,610); fire control including volunteer fire operations ($331,137); public 
safety ($8,553); and building ($210,004). $1,993,281 is committed to various projects: capital projects 
($69,118); transportation ($1,922,934); and tree preservation ($1,229). $420,795 is assigned for the following 
purposes - debt service ($217,623); and capital projects ($203,172).  $411,894 is considered non-spendable 
and $4,153,041 is unassigned and available for future appropriation within the General Fund. 
 
The total ending fund balances of governmental funds show an increase of $1,049,926 or 28.4% decrease over 
the prior year. 
 
Major Governmental Funds  
 
The Town reports three major governmental funds, the General Fund, Transportation Fund and the Capital 
Projects Fund. 
 
General Fund - The General Fund is the Town’s primary operating fund and the largest source of day-to-day 
service delivery.  The General Fund’s fund balance of $5,094,547 increased by $195,083 or almost 4% as 
compared to an increase of $1,070,213 or 27.9% in 2019. The ending unassigned fund balance is considered 
more than adequate, representing the equivalent of 37.9% of annual expenditures. This percentage compares 
to 38.4% at September 30, 2019. 
 
Ad valorem (property) taxes increased $83,913 or 1.3%.  This increase relates to an increase in the taxable 
value of property as the combined operating and transportation surface and drainage ongoing rehabilitation 
(TSDOR) capital program millage rate decreased from the prior year.  However, in total, all tax revenues were 
$104,279 or 1.3% above those of 2019. Licenses and permits were $351,075 or 26.1% higher than the 2019 
amount due to increased building and zoning permitting activity.   
 
Overall, total General Fund expenditures increased $683,664 or 6.7% above the fiscal year 2019 level. The 
most significant changes, by department, from fiscal year 2019 are described below. 
 
General government costs, consisting of legislative, legal, executive and clerk administration, finance & 
budget, and non-departmental departments were $147,312 higher than the 2019 amount primarily due to 
increased litigation activity.  
 
In total, public safety costs were up $349,382 or 5.7% above the 2019 amount. This increase is due to a 4.5% 
annual contract escalator with the Town of Davie in addition to newly replaced police vehicles of .9% plus 
.3% attributable by a total increase in Southwest Ranches Volunteer Fire department expenses, including 
stipend payments.  
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Community services and development which consists of building, planning, code & zoning, and public works 
increased $280,141 or 19.3% above those of 2019 primarily due to the aforementioned increased building, 
zoning permitting activity and application fee volume, resulting in significantly higher contractual service 
costs.  
 
The 2020 parks and recreation amounts were $21,267 higher than the 2019 amount of $386,366. The major 
portion of this increase is due from a partial year impact from higher grounds maintenance contract 
implemented toward the end of FY 2020. Additionally, it shall be noted that an increase occurred with one 
new Town park facility (Frontier Trails) operational for the entire FY 2020. 
 
New for 2020, Covid-19 pandemic emergency service expenditures totaled $12,094 (or $7,850 higher than 
FY 2019) resulting from the acquisition of personal protective and safety equipment which is still ongoing. 
For 2019, Hurricane Dorian emergency services expenditures resulted from preparation and protective safety 
measures incurred. Fortunately, this Hurricane did not ultimately strike or financially impact the Town.   
 
In this fiscal year, the General Fund transferred $2,618,208 to other funds, which included $1,322,404 to the 
Transportation Fund, $72,000 to the Capital Projects Fund, $1,028,791 to the Debt Service Fund, and 
$195,013 to the Volunteer Fire Department Fund (a component unit).  The Solid Waste Fund transferred 
$251,160 to the General Fund. 
 
Transportation Fund – This fund accounts for the Town’s share of the state gasoline and local option gas 
taxes, which are restricted to transportation purposes, a state transportation appropriation grant, and an on-
going long-term transportation surface and drainage ongoing rehabilitation (TSDOR) capital program.  In 
fiscal year 2020,  revenue of $719,891 of intergovernmental  revenue was earned as compared to $335,067 in 
fiscal year 2019 primarily related to an increase in state transportation appropriation grant.  $467,192 was 
expended on roadways including engineering, signage repairs and replacements and related personnel costs 
during 2020 and, $843,049 on capital outlay comprising of: drainage improvements ($518,043); Guardrails 
($96,701); and TSDOR ($228,305).  The total legally restricted and committed transportation fund balance at 
fiscal year-end 2020 was $398,610 and $1,949,985, respectively. 
 
Capital Projects Fund - This fund is primarily financed from transfers from the General Fund, as indicated 
above for both the current ($72,000) and prior ($241,095) fiscal year.  
 
During fiscal year 2020, this fund spent $72,788 on capital outlay, which includes: 
 

 Buildings/Fire Control Modular safety improvements $5,818 
 Infrastructure improvements for Town Hall Safety $6,250 
 Infrastructure improvements for Frontier Trails Park $60,720 

 
Committed and assigned fund balance was $37,687 (primarily for Town Hall Safety) and $185,672, 
respectively. The total capital project fund balance at fiscal year-end 2020 was $223,359. 
 
Proprietary Fund 
 
Proprietary fund statements share the same focus as the government-wide statements, reporting both short-
term and long-term information about financial status.  The business-type activities analysis above discusses 
the Town’s enterprise fund. 
 
GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS  
 
The General Fund’s budget was amended in this fiscal year to reflect Departmental line item reclassifications 
and new Town Council initiatives. 

 
March 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

 
Page 32 of 156



12

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 
 
 
Intergovernmental revenues were under budget by $139,997 or 18.8% due to a grant reimbursable public 
safety capital outlay project ($103,437) delayed and reduced state sales tax revenue sharing (approximately 
$36,560) received than anticipated due to the Covid-19 pandemic.  Fines and forfeitures were under budget 
by $29,209 or 8.7% than anticipated as a result of lower traffic court revenue (approximately $25,209) as a 
result of less street traffic and lower code enforcement and lien recoveries received (approximately $4,000) 
also due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Investment income revenue were under budget by $16,732 or 18.0% due 
to an unanticipated lower interest rate environment. All other revenue sources were slightly over budget but 
generally consistent with the adopted budget.  Overall, we ultimately recognized ($19,451) or 99.9% of the 
revenue budget. 
 
On the expenditure side, the Town’s actual expenditures for each department or function were less than 
budgeted due to conservative budgeting and, where noted below, except for those pertaining to Covid-19 
pandemic personal protective and safety equipment ($11,502), for its obvious reason. By function, general 
governmental was $267,077 or 10.6% below the budget primarily due to lower than anticipated town 
operating events, training and education, total public safety was $38,958 or less than .1% below the budget, 
community services and development was $36,086 or 2.0% below the budget, parks and recreation was 
$13,444 or 3.2% below the budget and capital outlay was $165,962 or 72.0% below the budget primarily due 
to the aforementioned public safety capital outlay project delayed as well as lower than anticipated fire well 
costs ($12,390). 
 
Overall, the total General Fund budget was underspent by $510,025 or 4.5% specifically due to the above, 
aforementioned items and lower general government operating expenditures including contractual services, 
primarily due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Tight Departmental Director expenditure controls and monitoring 
throughout also contributed to the underspending. 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The Town's investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, for governmental activities as of 
September 30, 2020, was $59,708,055. The change in this net investment was a 0.3% decrease for 
governmental activities.  See Note 6 for additional information about changes in capital assets during the 
fiscal year and outstanding at the end of the year. 
 
The following table provides a summary of capital asset activity: 

2020 2019
Non-depreciable assets:
  Land $ 42,341,811      $ 42,341,811      
  Construction in progress 1,337,468        1,786,806        
  Total non-depreciable 43,679,279      44,128,617      
Depreciable assets:
  Infrastructure 25,233,812      24,532,754      
  Improvements other than buildings 5,963,630        5,278,971        
  Buildings and building improvements 3,659,467        3,653,649        
  Furniture and equipment 1,921,667        1,883,520        
Total depreciable assets 36,778,576      35,348,894      
Less: accumulated depreciation 20,749,800      19,567,910      
Net book value - depreciable assets 16,028,776      15,780,984      
Percentage depreciated 56% 55%
Total Capital Asset Net Book Value $ 59,708,055      $ 59,909,601      

Capital Assets
Governmental Activities
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 

 
 

At September 30, 2020, the depreciable capital assets for governmental activities were 56% depreciated.  This 
compares to the 55% at September 30, 2019. 
 
For governmental activities, the majority of the increase (decrease) of the balance of all non-depreciable and 
depreciable asset accounts relates to the following projects: 
 

 TSDOR Construction-in-progress $227,700   
 Frontier Trails Park Construction-in-progress ($624,829)  
 Drainage Projects Construction-in-progress (net) ($163,910)  
 Guardrails Construction-in progress $96,701 
 Generators Construction-in-progress $15,000 
 Drainage Infrastructure $683,448 
 Fire Wells #236, #181, #116, #378 Infrastructure $17,610   
 Frontier Trails Park Improvements other than buildings $684,659 
 Public Safety Modular Security Building Improvements $5,818 
 Town Hall Furniture and equipment $18,179 
 Public Safety-Volunteer Fire Furniture and equipment $19,968 
 

Debt 
 
The Town has no emergency line of credit outstanding at 9/30/2020 and reports it solely attributable to and 
within its business-type activity for 9/30/2019. The series 2016 land acquisition note payable, series 2013 and 
2011 revenue refunding notes payable as well as an equipment and other loan payable with financial 
institutions are in governmental activities only. Overall, the Town of Southwest Ranches lowered its total debt 
by $2,350,130 or 19.6% during the current year of which $1,761,698 was attributable to realized Federal 
Emergency Management Agency and Florida Department of Emergency Management recoveries from 
Hurricane Irma. More detailed information on long-term debt activity to the relevant disclosures in the notes 
to the financial statements are found on pages 35-39.  The following table reports long-term debt balances at 
September 30, 2020 and 2019: 

2020 2019

Governmental Activities:
TD Note Payable, 2016 $ 7,750,000      $ 7,750,000      
TD Note Payable, 2013 1,324,900      1,525,400      
TD Note Payable, 2011 350,949         623,229         
TD Note Payable, Rosenbauer 84,111           110,761         
Centennial Loan Payable 149,986         238,988         
Sub-Total 9,659,946      10,248,378    
Business-type Activities:
TD Emergency Line of Credit -                1,761,698      

Grand Total $ 9,659,946      $ 12,010,076    

Outstanding Long-Term Debt

 
The Town provides an optional single-employer defined benefit post-employment health care plan to eligible 
employees.  The Town does not make contributions to the Plan on behalf of retirees.  In accordance with 
GASB Statement No. 75, the Town has evaluated and determined that it is not necessary to record the total 
OPEB liability of $61,765 as it is insignificant to the Town. 
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited)  Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
As of and For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 
 

 
 

A SUMMARY OF THE ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AFFECTING THE TOWN 
 
The State of Florida, by constitution, does not have a state personal income tax, and, therefore, the State 
operates primarily using sales, gasoline and corporate income taxes.  Local governments (towns and cities, 
counties, school boards) primarily rely on property and an array of permitted other taxes (utility taxes, 
franchise fees and local business taxes) as well as intergovernmental revenues, including a new County shared 
sales surtax restricted for transportation, for their governmental activities. For business-type activities and 
certain governmental activities (building/construction services and parks, recreation and open space 
programs), the user pays a related fee or charge associated with the service. 
 
During a Covid-19 pandemic significantly impacting south florida economic, especially hospitality activity, 
the unemployment rate for Broward County residents as of September 2020 and 2019 was 7.8% and 2.8%, 
respectively and compares unfavorably to the State’s unemployment rate of 7.2% for September 2020 but 
favorably at 3.2% for September 2019. However, the Town’s residents would expect to have a lower 
unemployment rate than is reported for the county. Inflationary trends in the region continue to also compare 
favorably to national indices, which is a positive sign. In addition, according to the U.S. Census Bureau (2015-
2019), the Town’s median household income of $124,591 compares favorably to the Nation’s and State’s as 
well as the County’s median household income of $62,843, $55,660, and $59,547, respectively. 
 
In the 2020-2021 adopted budget, we continue operating in a conservative economic environment due to the 
Covid-19 pandemic.  There are indications of a continued marginal increase in housing values and related 
taxable values due to new residential development, improvements and rehabilitation. Additionally, 
inflationary trends in the region compare more favorably to national indices. 
 
Some of the key elements affecting the fiscal year 2020-2021 budget include: 

 
 Relatively modest change in taxable values but expected to ellipse the 2020 record all-time highest 

due to a primarily residential composition.  
 A shift in funding for Transportation infrastructure to a new County shared sales surtax. 
 Continuance of an extremely low interest yield environment. 
 Crude oil prices remain historically low and stable. 
 Modest growth rates of building construction and rehabilitation.  
 A slight decline in State of Florida shared revenues, especially from sales and gas taxes. 

 
All of these factors result in many budget challenges in fiscal year 2020-2021 and beyond.  Additionally, the 
Town carefully monitors Florida Legislative initiatives and their future impact on the Town’s ability to 
function at its present level. 
 
The millage rate for fiscal year 2021 was lowered for the second straight year to 4.2500 representing the 
Town’s regular operating rate of 4.2500 plus .0000 for the seventh year of a major transportation related 
capital improvement project (TSDOR) as compared to 4.2125 plus .4439 for TSDOR for fiscal year 2020 
totaling 4.6564, resulting in an anticipated net revenue reduction of ($603,947). Additionally, during the 
current fiscal year, unassigned General Fund fund balance increased $213,671 to $4,153,041. 
 
Also, the Town of Southwest Ranches has appropriated $73,000 and $17,500 of restricted and assigned 
General Fund fund balance, respectively for spending in the 2020-2021 fiscal year.  
 
 
CONTACTING THE TOWN’S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town’s finances, comply with finance-
related laws and regulations, and demonstrate the Town’s commitment to public accountability and 
transparency.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or request for additional 
information should be addressed to the Town Financial Administrator, Town of Southwest Ranches, 13400 
Griffin Road, Southwest Ranches, Florida 33330-2628. 
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The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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Governmental   Business-type 
Activities Activities Total

Assets
Cash $ 5,824,887      $ 838,466         $ 6,663,353      
Investments 1,401,660      -                 1,401,660      
Receivables 569,660         9,000             578,660         
Intergovernmental receivables 696,489         29,465           725,954         
Prepaid items 52,684           -                 52,684           
Assets held for resale 359,210         -                 359,210         
Capital assets not being depreciated 43,679,279    -                 43,679,279    
Capital assets being depreciated, net 16,028,776    -                 16,028,776    

Total Assets 68,612,645    876,931         69,489,576    

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred charge on refunding 28,794           -                 28,794           

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 977,101         117,609         1,094,710      
Accrued interest payable 122,397         -                 122,397         
Unearned revenues 174                -                 174                
Noncurrent liabilities:
   Due within one year 607,000         -                 607,000         
   Due in more than one year 9,052,946      -                 9,052,946      

Total Liabilities 10,759,618    117,609         10,877,227    

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 50,076,903    -                 50,076,903    
Restricted for:
   Transportation 398,610         -                 398,610         
   Fire control and rescue services 331,137         -                 331,137         
   Public safety 8,553             -                 8,553             
   Building 210,004         -                 210,004         
Unrestricted 6,856,614      759,322         7,615,936      

Total Net Position $ 57,881,821    $ 759,322         $ 58,641,143    

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Statement of Net Position

September 30, 2020
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The accompanying notes to basic financial statements are an integral part of these statements. 
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Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida

Capital Nonmajor Total
General Transportation Projects Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
Assets

Cash $ 3,484,167 $ 1,844,519 $ 223,359 $ 272,842 $ 5,824,887
Investments 1,401,660 -                  -             -                 1,401,660
Receivables 569,660 -                  -             -                 569,660
Intergovernmental
 receivables 122,655 573,834 -             -                 696,489
Due from other funds -             -                  -             3,850 3,850
Prepaid items 48,517 -                  -             4,167 52,684
Assets held for resale 359,210 -                  -             -                 359,210

Total Assets $ 5,985,869 $ 2,418,353 $ 223,359 $ 280,859 $ 8,908,440

Liabilities and Fund
 Balances
  Liabilities:

Accounts payable and 
 accrued liabilities $ 887,298 $ 69,758 $ -             $ 20,045 $ 977,101
Due to other funds 3,850 -                  -             -                 3,850             
Unearned revenues 174 -                  -             -                 174

Total Liabilities 891,322 69,758 -             20,045 981,125

Fund Balances
Non-spendable:

Prepaid items 48,517 -                  -             4,167 52,684
Assets held for resale 359,210 -                  -             -                 359,210

Restricted for:
Transportation -             398,610 -             -                 398,610
Fire control and rescue
 services 292,113 -                  -             39,024 331,137
Public safety 8,553 -                  -             -                 8,553
Building 210,004 -                  -             -                 210,004

Committed for:
Capital projects 4,380 27,051 37,687 -                 69,118
Transportation -             1,922,934 -             -                 1,922,934
Tree preservation 1,229 -                  -             -                 1,229

Assigned for:
Debt service -             -                  -             217,623 217,623
Capital projects 17,500 -                  185,672 -                 203,172

Unassigned 4,153,041   -                  -             -                 4,153,041

Total Fund Balances 5,094,547 2,348,595 223,359 260,814 7,927,315

Total Liabilities and
 Fund Balances $ 5,985,869 $ 2,418,353 $ 223,359 $ 280,859 $ 8,908,440

Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
September 30, 2020
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Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the
 Statement of Net Position (Page 15) are Different Because:

Fund Balances - Total Governmental Funds (Page 17) $ 7,927,315

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not
 financial resources and, therefore, are not reported
  in the funds.

Capital assets $ 80,457,855
Accumulated depreciation (20,749,800) 59,708,055

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period
 and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds:

   Long-term debt $ (9,659,946)
   Accrued interest payable (122,397)
   Deferred charge on refunding (amortized as interest expense)  28,794 (9,753,549)

Net Position of Governmental Activities (Page 15) $ 57,881,821

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds

to the Statement of Net Position
September 30, 2020
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Capital Nonmajor Total
General Transportation Projects Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
Revenues

Ad valorem taxes $ 6,633,543 $ -                 $ -            $ -                 $ 6,633,543
Utility taxes 1,221,282 -                 -            -                 1,221,282
Franchise fees 668,534 -                 -            -                 668,534
Licenses and permits 1,696,926 -                 -            -                 1,696,926
Intergovernmental 604,503 719,891 -            -                 1,324,394
Charges for services 2,155,792 -                 -            -                 2,155,792
Fines and forfeitures 306,019 -                 -            -                 306,019
Investment income 76,052 26,330 2,675 1,296 106,353
Miscellaneous 152,734 -                 -            5,763 158,497

Total Revenues 13,515,385 746,221 2,675 7,059 14,271,340

Expenditures
Current:

General government 2,252,910 -                 -            -                 2,252,910
Public safety:
  Law enforcement 2,899,711 -                 -            -                 2,899,711
  Fire control and rescue
   services 3,584,881 -                 -            200,456 3,785,337
Total public safety 6,484,592 -                 -            200,456 6,685,048

Community services and 
 development 1,731,518 -                 -            -                 1,731,518
Parks and recreation 407,633 -                 -            -                 407,633
Transportation -            467,192 -            -                 467,192
Emergency services 12,094      -                 -            -                 12,094

Capital outlay 64,507 843,049 72,788 -                 980,344
Debt service:

Principal -            -                 -            588,432 588,432
Interest and fiscal charges -            -                 -            317,535 317,535

Total Expenditures 10,953,254 1,310,241 72,788 1,106,423 13,442,706

Excess (deficiency) of 
 revenues over expenditures 2,562,131 (564,020) (70,113) (1,099,364) 828,634

Other Financing Sources
 (Uses)

Transfers in 251,160 1,322,404 72,000 1,223,804 2,869,368
Transfers out (2,618,208) -                 -            (29,868) (2,648,076)

Total Other Financing 
 Sources (Uses) (2,367,048) 1,322,404 72,000 1,193,936 221,292

Change in Fund Balances 195,083 758,384 1,887 94,572 1,049,926

Fund Balances - Beginning
 of Year 4,899,464 1,590,211 221,472 166,242 6,877,389

Fund Balances - End of Year $ 5,094,547 $ 2,348,595 $ 223,359 $ 260,814 $ 7,927,315

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds

For the Year Ended September 30, 2020
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Amounts Reported for Governmental Activities in the 
 Statement of Activities (Page 16) are Different Because: 

Net changes in fund balance - total governmental funds (Page 19) $ 1,049,926

Governmental funds report capital outlay as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is 
 depreciated over  their estimated useful lives and reported as 
 depreciation expense:

Expenditures for capital outlay $ 980,344
Less: current year provision for depreciation expense (1,181,890) (201,546)

The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to 
 governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term 
 debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds.  
 Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also, 
 governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums, 
 discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these  
 amounts (other than direct issuance costs) are deferred and amortized 
 in the statement of activities.  
 This detail of the difference is as follows:

Repayment of principal 588,432

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the 
 use of current financial resources and therefore are not reported as 
 expenditures in the governmental funds:

Amortization of deferred amount on refunding (5,758)
Change in accrued interest payable 1,851

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities (Page 16) $ 1,432,905

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of

Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020
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Solid
Waste Fund 

Assets

Current Assets
Cash $ 838,466       
Accounts receivable 9,000           
Intergovernmental receivables 29,465         

Total Assets 876,931       

Liabilities 

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 117,609       

Total Liabilities 117,609       

Net Position
Unrestricted 759,322       

Total Net Position $ 759,322       

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Fund

September 30, 2020
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Solid
Waste Fund 

Operating Revenues
Charges for services $ 1,714,527
Miscellaneous 65

Total Operating Revenues 1,714,592

Operating Expenses
Contractual services 1,312,622
Recycling 105,862
Emergency services 323
Other 403

Total Operating Expenses 1,419,210

Operating Income 295,382

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)
Intergovernmental, non-capital grants 70,612
Investment income 20,098
Emergency line of credit interest expense (16,267)

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) 74,443

Income Before Transfers 369,825

Transfers:
Transfers in 29,868
Transfers out (251,160)

Total net transfers (221,292)

Change in Net Position 148,533

Net Position - Beginning of Year 610,789

Net Position - End of Year $ 759,322

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net Position - Proprietary Fund

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020
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Solid
Waste Fund 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash received from customers and users $ 1,726,592      
Cash paid to suppliers (1,414,402)     

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities 312,190         

Cash Flows from Non-Capital Financing Activities
Proceeds from grants, non-capital 2,096,253      
Payment on emergency line of credit (1,761,698)     
Emergency line of credit interest paid (30,042)          

 Transfers out (251,160)        
Transfers in 29,868           

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Non-Capital Financing Activities 83,221           

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
  Interest received 20,098           

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash 415,509         

Cash - Beginning 422,957         

Cash - Ending $ 838,466         

Reconciliation of Operating Income to Net Cash
 Provided by Operating Activities

Operating income $ 295,382         

Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
 provided by operating activities:
  Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
    Decrease (Increase) in accounts receivable 12,000           
    Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 4,808             

  Total adjustments 16,808           

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 312,190         

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

This summary of the Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida’s (the Town) significant 
accounting policies is presented to assist the reader in interpreting the basic financial 
statements.  The policies are considered essential and should be read in conjunction with the 
basic financial statements. 

 
The Town is an instrumentality of the State of Florida, incorporated in accordance with House 
Bill No. 1777 on June 6, 2000, to carry on a centralized government.  The Town Council, 
which is comprised of four elected Council members and the elected Mayor, is responsible 
for legislative and fiscal control of the Town.  The Town is governed under a 
Council/Administrator form of government.  A Town Administrator is appointed by the 
Council and is responsible for administrative and fiscal control of the resources of the Town 
maintained in the funds.   

  
The accounting policies of the Town conform to accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America (GAAP) as applicable to governmental units.  The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body 
for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles.  The more 
significant of the Town’s accounting policies are described below. 

 
A. FINANCIAL REPORTING ENTITY 

 
The accompanying financial statements present the Town and its component unit, the 
Southwest Ranches Volunteer Fire-Rescue, Inc. (the Department).   
 
The Department became a blended component unit of the Town of Southwest Ranches on 
January 28, 2010 when the members of the Town Council became the Board of Directors of 
the Department.  The Department is a legally separate, tax-exempt, 501(c)(4) organization 
that provides for the protection of human and animal life and property against fire, disaster, 
natural catastrophe or other calamity within the Town limits of Southwest Ranches. The 
Town is financially responsible (benefit/burden) and has operational responsibility for the 
Department.  There are no separately issued financial statements for this component unit. 
 
B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the 
statement of activities) report information on all the activities of the Town and its component 
unit. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes, intergovernmental 
revenues, and other nonexchange transactions, are reported separately from business-type 
activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges to external customers for 
support.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given 
function or segment is offset by program revenues.  Direct expenses are those that are clearly 
identifiable with a specific function or segment.  Program revenues include 1) charges to 
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or 
privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or 
segment.  Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
as general revenues. 

 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and the proprietary fund.  
Major individual governmental funds and the major individual enterprise fund are reported 
as separate columns in the fund financial statements.  All remaining governmental funds are 
aggregated and reported as nonmajor governmental funds. 

 
C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT 

PRESENTATION 
 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting as are the proprietary fund financial 
statements.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Property taxes are recognized as 
revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized 
as soon as they are both measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available 
when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities 
of the current period.  For this purpose, the Town considers revenues to be available if they 
are collected within 60 days from the end of the current fiscal year. 
 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  
However, debt service expenditures are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Property taxes, franchise fees, utility taxes, charges for services, intergovernmental revenues 
and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be measurable and 
available and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period.  Revenues for 
expenditure driven grants are recognized when the qualifying expenditures are incurred, and 
eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met.  All other revenue items such 
as fines and forfeitures and licenses and permits are considered to be measurable and 
available when cash is received by the Town. 
 
The reporting practices of the proprietary fund type closely parallel comparable commercial 
financial reporting, which recognize revenue when earned and expenses when incurred (the 
accrual basis) including, in the case of the enterprise fund, depreciation on its exhaustible 
capital assets, if any.  Earned, but unbilled service receivables, if any, would be accrued as 
revenue in the enterprise fund. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT 
PRESENTATION (CONTINUED) 

 
The Town reports the following major governmental funds: 

 
The General Fund is the Town’s primary operating fund.  It accounts for all financial 
resources of the general government, except those accounted for in another fund. 
 
The Transportation Fund accounts for the receipt of the Town’s portion of the state 
revenue sharing of the gasoline and local option gas taxes which are restricted for 
transportation related expenditures. 
 
The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the capital projects of the Town which 
have received the approval of the Town Council. Transfers from the general and other 
funds are made to this fund to cover such expenditures. 
 

 The Town reports the following major proprietary fund: 
 

The Solid Waste Fund (an enterprise fund) accounts for the operation of the Town’s solid 
waste collection, disposal, and recycling services. 
 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-
wide financial statements.  Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu of taxes and 
other charges between the Town’s solid waste functions and various other functions of the 
Town, if applicable.  Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program 
revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants for 
goods, services, or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital 
grants and contributions, including special assessments.  Internally dedicated resources are 
reported as general revenues rather than as program revenues. The general revenues include 
all taxes whose purpose has not been restricted to a specific program. 

 
Proprietary fund type operating statements present increases (e.g., revenues) and decreases 
(e.g., expenses) in net position. Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and 
expenses from non-operating items.  Operating revenues and expenses generally result from 
providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary 
fund's principal ongoing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the proprietary fund 
are charges to customers for sales and services.  Operating expenses for the proprietary fund 
include the costs of sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation on capital 
assets, as applicable.  All revenues and expenses that do not meet this definition are reported 
as non-operating revenues or expenses. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

D. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
The Town utilizes a pooled cash account for cash of all Town funds other than those that are 
required to be physically segregated. The pooled cash account concept allows each 
participating fund to benefit from the economies of scale and improved yield which are 
inherent to a larger investment pool. Formal accounting records detail the individual equities 
of the participating funds. The pooled cash system utilizes a single checking account for 
Town receipts and all disbursements including payroll. 
 
Investments are in the Florida PRIME administered by the State Board of Administration. 
The Town’s investments in the Florida PRIME are stated at amortized cost.   
 
E. PREPAID ITEMS 

 
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.  Prepaid 
items of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when 
purchased.   
 
F. CAPITAL ASSETS 
 
Capital assets, which include land, construction in progress, infrastructure assets, 
improvements other than buildings, buildings and building improvements, and furniture and 
equipment are reported in the applicable governmental columns in the government-wide 
financial statements. Capital assets are defined by the Town as assets with an initial, 
individual cost of more than $1,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of one year.  Such 
assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed.  
Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value on the date of donation. 
 
The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or 
materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. 
 
Capital assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following estimated 
useful lives: 
 

Assets   Years 
  
Infrastructure   10-40 
Improvements other than buildings   10-50 
Buildings and building improvements 10-50 
Furniture and equipment 3-30 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
G. IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS 
 
The Town records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when events and 
circumstances indicate the assets might be impaired.  No impairment losses have been 
recorded. 
 
H. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 

 
In the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund type in the fund 
financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities 
in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities or proprietary fund type 
statement of net position.  Bond premiums and discounts, if applicable, are deferred and 
amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method, which approximates the 
effective interest method.  Bond issue costs are expensed at issuance.  Bonds payable are 
reported net of the applicable premiums and discounts. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize debt premiums and 
discounts, as well as debt issuance costs, in the year of issuance.  The face amount of debt 
issued is reported as another financing source.  Premiums received on debt issuance are 
reported as another financing source while discounts on debt issuances are reported as another 
financing use. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, 
and principal payments, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
I. DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/ INFLOWS OF RESOURCES  
 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred 
outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future 
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/ expenditure) 
until then. The Town only has one item that qualifies for reporting in this category.  It is the 
deferred charge on refunding reported in the government-wide statement of net position.  A 
deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value of refunded 
debt and its reacquisition price.  This amount is deferred and amortized over the shorter of 
the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section 
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows 
of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period and so 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.  The Town has no 
amounts reported in this category in the current year. 
 
J. UNEARNED REVENUE 

 
Unearned revenue represents increases in assets prior to the eligibility criteria being met for 
recognition of revenue. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
K. FUND BALANCE 

 
The Town follows the criteria for classifying governmental fund balances into specifically 
defined classifications. Classifications are hierarchical and are based primarily on the extent 
to which the Town is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts 
in the funds may be spent.  The Town’s accounting and financial policies are used to interpret 
the nature and/or requirements of the funds and their corresponding classification of 
nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned. 

 
The following are the fund balance classifications: 
 

Nonspendable fund balance. Nonspendable fund balances are amounts that are (a) not in 
spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted fund balance. Restricted fund balances are amounts that can be spent only for 
specific purposes stipulated by (a) external resource providers such as creditors (by debt 
covenants), grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) 
imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed fund balance. These amounts can only be used for the specific purposes 
determined by a formal action (ordinance or resolution) of the Town Council, the Town’s 
highest level of decision-making authority. Ordinances and resolutions constitute the most 
binding constraints and are deemed equally binding and enforceable within the Town. 
Commitments may be changed or lifted only by the Town Council taking the same formal 
action (ordinance or resolution) that imposed the constraint originally.  Resources 
accumulated pursuant to stabilization arrangements sometimes are reported in this 
category. 
 
Assigned fund balance. Assigned fund balances are amounts that are constrained by the 
Town’s intent to be used for specific purposes but are neither restricted nor committed.  
Intent is established by the Town Administrator and Town Financial Administrator who 
have the discretionary authority as charter officers of the Town and to which the Council 
has delegated the authority to assign, modify or rescind amounts to be used for specific 
purposes. There is no formal policy which has been established by Council delegating this 
authority. This balance includes (a) all remaining amounts that are reported in 
governmental funds (other than the General Fund) that are not classified as nonspendable, 
restricted, or committed, and (b) amounts in the General Fund that are intended to be used 
for a specific purpose. Specific amounts that are not restricted or committed in a special 
revenue or capital projects fund are assigned for the purposes in accordance with the nature 
of their fund type. Assignment within the General Fund conveys that the intended use of 
those amounts is for a specific purpose that is narrower than the general purposes of the 
Town itself. 
 
Unassigned fund balance.  This fund balance is the residual classification for the General 
Fund. It is also used to report negative fund balances in other governmental funds. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
L. NET POSITION 
 
Net position is the result of assets and deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources. The net position of the government-wide and proprietary funds 
is categorized as net investment in capital assets, reduced by depreciation and any outstanding 
debt incurred to acquire, construct and improve those assets and deferred inflows and 
outflows of resources related to debt, and excluding unexpended proceeds. 
 
Restricted net position is that portion of net position that has been restricted for general use 
by external parties (creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws and regulations of other 
governments) or imposed by law through constitutional provisions enabling legislation.  
 
Unrestricted net position consists of the net position that does not meet the definition of either 
of the other two components. 
 
M. FLOW ASSUMPTIONS  
 
Net Position Flow Assumption 
Sometimes the Town will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and 
unrestricted resources.  In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted - net position 
and unrestricted – net position in the government-wide financial statements, a flow 
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  
It is the Town’s policy to consider restricted – net position to have been depleted before 
unrestricted – net position is applied. 
 
Fund Balance Flow Assumption 
Sometimes the Town will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and 
unrestricted resources (the total of committed, assigned, and unassigned fund balance).  In 
order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted, committed, assigned, and unassigned 
fund balance in the financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in 
which the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the Town’s policy to consider restricted 
fund balance to have been depleted before using any other components of unrestricted fund 
balance.  Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance can be used for the same 
purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund balance.  
Unassigned fund balance is applied last. 

 
N. USE OF ESTIMATES 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred inflows/outflows, liabilities 
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. 
Actual results may differ from management’s estimates. 
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NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
DEPOSITS 
 
The Town maintains a cash pool that is available for use by all funds.  In addition to insurance 
provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), all deposits are held in 
banking institutions approved by the State of Florida, State Treasurer to hold public funds. 
Under the Florida Statutes Chapter 280, Florida Security for Public Deposits Act, the State 
Treasurer requires all qualified public depositories to deposit with the Treasurer or banking 
institution eligible collateral of the depository. In the event of a failure of a qualified public 
depository, the remaining public depositories would be responsible for covering any resulting 
losses. Since the Town uses only authorized public depositories, all funds deposited with 
financial institutions are FDIC insured and/or are fully collateralized and treated as insured. 
 
INVESTMENTS 
 
The Town is authorized to invest in direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury, Securities and 
Exchange Commission registered money market funds with the highest credit quality rating 
from a nationally recognized rating agency, and the Local Government Surplus Funds Trust 
Fund, or any other intergovernmental investment pool authorized by Florida Statutes, 
including the Florida PRIME administered by the State Board of Administration. The 
investment policy defined in the statutes attempts to promote, through state assistance, the 
maximization of net interest earnings on invested surplus funds of local units of governments 
while limiting the risk to which the funds are exposed. 
 
Florida PRIME is governed by Chapter 19-7 of the Florida Administrative Code and Chapters 
215 and 218 of the Florida Statutes.  These rules provide guidance and establish the policies 
and general operating procedures for the administration of the Florida PRIME.  Florida 
PRIME invests in a pool of investments whereby the Town owns a share of the respective 
pool, not the underlying securities. GASB issued Statement No. 79, Certain External 
Investment Pools and Pool Participants establishing criteria for an external investment pool 
to qualify to report at amortized cost. Florida PRIME is reported at amortized cost. 
 
The investments in the Florida PRIME are not insured by FDIC or any other governmental 
agency. 
 
The Town had the following investments as of September 30, 2020: 

Weighted
Average 

Value Maturity
Investments

Florida PRIME $ 1,401,660 48 days
 

INTEREST RATE RISK 
 
The Town does not have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a 
means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates nor 
do they have any investments that are subject to interest rate risk. 
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NOTE 2 – DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
CREDIT RISK 
 
The Town does not have a written investment policy and, therefore, follows Florida Statute 
218.415(17). The Town invests surplus funds in the State Board of Administration 
Investment Pool.  The Florida PRIME is rated by Standard and Poor’s. The current rating is 
AAAm. 
 
CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 
 
Disclosure is required when the percentage of investments is 5% or more of total 
investments.  At September 30, 2020, the Town only invests in an external investment pool, 
the Florida PRIME. 
 
INVESTMENT POOLS AND POOL PARTICIPANTS 
 
With regard to redemption dates, Chapter 218.409(8) (a), Florida Statutes, states, “The 
principal, and any part thereof, of each account constituting the trust fund is subject to 
payment at any time from the moneys in the trust fund.  However, the Executive Director 
may, in good faith, on the occurrence of an event that has a material impact on liquidity or 
operations of the trust fund, for 48 hours limit contributions to or withdrawals from the trust 
fund to ensure that the Board can invest moneys entrusted to it in exercising its fiduciary 
responsibility. Such action must be immediately disclosed to all participants, the Trustees, 
the Joint Legislative Auditing Committee, and the Investment Advisory Council. The 
Trustees shall convene an emergency meeting as soon as practicable from the time the 
Executive Director has instituted such measures and review the necessity of those measures. 
If the Trustees are unable to convene an emergency meeting before the expiration of the 48-
hour moratorium on contributions and withdrawals, the Executive Director may extend the 
moratorium until the Trustees are able to meet to review the necessity for the moratorium. If 
the Trustees agree with such measures, the Trustees shall vote to continue the measures for 
up to an additional 15 days. The Trustees must convene and vote to continue any such 
measures before the expiration of the time limit set, but in no case may the time limit set by 
the Trustees exceed 15 days.” 
 
With regard to liquidity fees, Florida Statute 218.409(4) provides authority for the SBA to 
impose penalties for early withdrawal, subject to disclosure in the enrollment materials of the 
amount and purpose of such fees. At present, no such disclosure has been made. 
 
As of September 30, 2020, there were no redemption fees or maximum transaction amounts, 
or any other requirements that serve to limit a participant’s daily access to 100 percent of 
their account value. 
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NOTE 3 – PROPERTY TAXES 
 
Property values are assessed as of January 1 of each year, at which time taxes become an 
enforceable lien on property.  Tax bills are mailed for the Town by Broward County on or 
about October 1 of each year and are payable with discounts of up to 4% offered for early 
payment.  Taxes become delinquent on April 1 of the year following the year of assessment 
and state law provides for enforcement of collection of property taxes by seizure of the 
personal property or by the sale of interest-bearing tax certificates to satisfy unpaid property 
taxes. Assessed values are established by the Broward County Property Appraiser. In 
November 1992, a Florida constitutional amendment was approved by the voters which 
provides for limiting the increases in homestead property valuations for ad valorem tax 
purposes to a maximum of 3% annually and also provides for reassessment of market values 
upon changes in ownership. The County bills and collects all property taxes and remits them 
to the Town. Procedures for the collection of delinquent taxes by Broward County are 
provided for in the Laws of Florida. There were no material delinquent property taxes at 
September 30, 2020. 

 
State statutes permit municipalities to levy property taxes at a rate of up to 10 mills ($10 per 
$1,000 of assessed taxable valuation).  The tax levy of the Town is established by the Town 
Council and the Broward County Property Appraiser, who incorporates the Town’s millage 
into the total tax levy, which includes the County, County School Board and other agencies 
tax requirements. The millage rate assessed by the Town for the fiscal year ended September 
30, 2020 was 4.6564 mills (operating millage was 4.2125 and TSDOR millage 0.4439) 

 
 
NOTE 4 - RECEIVABLES 
 

Receivables as of September 30, 2020 for the Town’s funds are as follows: 

Taxes and 
Fees

General Fund $ 569,660
Solid Waste Fund 9,000

Total Receivables $ 578,660

 
NOTE 5 – INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
 

Interfund transfers during fiscal year ended September 30, 2020 are as follows: 
Transfers In Transfers Out

General Fund $ 251,160 $ 2,618,208
Transportation Fund 1,322,404 -                     
Capital Projects Fund 72,000 -                     
Volunteer Fire Department Fund 195,013 -                     
Debt Service Fund 1,028,791 29,868
Solid Waste Fund 29,868 251,160

Total Interfund Transfers $ 2,899,236 $ 2,899,236
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General Fund Transfers In consisted of $251,160 from the Town’s Solid Waste Fund 
providing an annual subsidy to the General Fund for administrative, finance and contractual 
compliance management and legal expenses, while $29,868 from the Debt Service Fund to 
the Solid Waste Fund relates to the emergency line of credit interest. 

 
General Fund Transfers Out consisted of $1,322,404 to the Transportation Fund to fund 
capital projects including the Transportation and Surface Drainage On-Going Rehabilitation 
(TSDOR) and operating needs; $72,000 to the Capital Projects Fund to primarily fund capital 
projects pertaining to the Town Public Safety Modular complex and infrastructure at Frontier 
Trail Park; $195,013 to the Volunteer Fire Department Fund to fund volunteer fire operations; 
and $1,028,791 to the Debt Service Fund as debt service principal and interest payments 
become due in accordance with debt service arrangements. 
 
 

NOTE 6 – CAPITAL ASSETS 
 

Capital assets activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020 was as follows: 
Balance Balance

October 1, September 30,
2019 Increases Decreases Transfers 2020

Governmental Activities:
Capital assets, not being
depreciated:
Land $ 42,341,811 $ $ $ $ 42,341,811
Construction in progress 1,786,806 342,854 (792,192) 1,337,468

Total capital assets,
not being depreciated 44,128,617 342,854 (792,192) 43,679,279

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Infrastructure 24,532,754 532,200 168,858 25,233,812
Improvements other than buildings 5,278,971 61,325 623,334 5,963,630
Buildings and building improvements 3,653,649 5,818 3,659,467
Furniture and equipment 1,883,520 38,147 1,921,667

Total capital assets
being depreciated 35,348,894 637,490 792,192 36,778,576

Total capital assets 79,477,511 980,344 80,457,855

Less: accumulated depreciation for:
Infrastructure 14,381,178 709,454 15,090,632
Improvements other than buildings 3,522,442 251,135 3,773,577
Buildings and building improvements 422,498 76,415 498,913
Furniture and equipment 1,241,792 144,886 1,386,678

Total accumulated
depreciation 19,567,910 1,181,890 20,749,800

Total capital assets, being
depreciated, net 15,780,984 (544,400) 792,192 16,028,776

Governmental activities
Capital assets, net $ 59,909,601 $ (201,546) $ $ $ 59,708,055
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NOTE 6 – CAPITAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the Town as follows: 

General Government $ 91,206
Public Safety 99,278
Parks and Recreation 293,101
Transportation 698,305

Total Depreciation  -  Governmental Activities $ 1,181,890
 

 
NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 

The following is a summary of changes in long-term liabilities of the Town for the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2020. 

 

Balance Balance Due
October 1, September 30, Within

2019 Additions Reductions 2020 One Year
Governmental Activities:
Notes from Direct Borrowing
and Private Placements:
Note Payable Series 2013 $ 1,525,400 $ $ (200,500) $ 1,324,900 $ 207,100
Note Payable Series 2011 623,229 (272,280) 350,949 279,790
Note Payable Series 2016 7,750,000 7,750,000
Rosenbauer Payable 110,761 (26,650) 84,111 27,332
Loan Payable (Centennial/CBB) 238,988 (89,002) 149,986 92,778

Total Governmental Activities $ 10,248,378 $ $ (588,432) $ 9,659,946 $ 607,000

Balance Balance Due
October 1, September 30, Within

2019 Additions Reductions 2020 One Year
Business type Activities:
Notes from Direct Borrowing
and Private Placements:
Emergency LOC Series 2018 $ 1,761,698 $ $ (1,761,698) $ $

Total Business type Activities $ 1,761,698 $ $ (1,761,698) $ $

 
REVENUE REFUNDING NOTE, SERIES 2013 
 
On June 1, 2013 the Town entered in to a $2,659,800 note with a financial institution for the 
purpose of refunding a portion of the Town’s Florida Municipal Loan Council Revenue Bonds, 
Series 2001A and to finance the cost of certain capital projects.  The note requires annual 
payments of principal and semi-annual payments of interest beginning November 1, 2013 and 
matures on November 1, 2025.  The note bears interest on the outstanding principal amount 
thereof at a rate of 2.85% calculated on the basis of twelve 30-day months and a 360-day year.  
As security for loan repayment, the Town covenants and agrees to appropriate in its annual 
budget amounts of non-ad valorem revenues sufficient to satisfy its annual debt service 
requirements under the loan agreement.   
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NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on this obligation as of September 30, 
2020 are as follows: 

 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 207,100 $ 29,191 $ 236,291
2022 213,300 24,167 237,467
2023 218,900 19,002 237,902
2024 224,000 14,468 238,468
2025 228,700 6,369 235,069
2026 232,900 6,254 239,154
Total $ 1,324,900 $ 99,451 $ 1,424,351

 
REVENUE REFUNDING NOTE, SERIES 2011 
 
On December 1, 2011 the Town entered in to a $2,500,000 note with a financial institution 
for the purpose of refunding the Town’s pooled commercial paper loan with the Florida Local 
Government Finance Commission (FLGFC). The note requires quarterly payments of 
principal and interest beginning March 1, 2012 and matures on December 1, 2021.  The note 
bears interest on the outstanding principal amount thereof at a fixed rate of 2.73% per annum 
calculated on a 30/360-day count basis.  The Town has pledged non-ad valorem revenues to 
secure payment of the principal and interest of the note.  

 
The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on this obligation as of September 30, 
2020 are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 279,790 $ 6,733 $ 286,524
2022 71,159 485 71,644

Total $ 350,949 $ 7,218 $ 358,168
 

IMPROVEMENT REVENUE NOTE, SERIES 2016  
 

On March 31, 2016, the Town entered in to a $7,750,000 note with a financial institution for 
the acquisition of 24.4373 acres of vacant land. The note requires semi-annual payments of 
interest beginning November 1, 2016 and semi-annual payments of principal beginning 
November 1, 2021. The note bears interest at a rate of 3.25% annually and matures on March 
31, 2036, unless the financial institution imposes a call option 90 days prior to May 1, 2031. 
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NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on this obligation as of September 30, 
2020 are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ $ 251,875 $ 251,875
2022 516,666 247,677 764,343
2023 516,666 230,885 747,551
2024 516,666 214,094 730,760
2025 516,666 197,302 713,968

2026 2030 2,583,330 734,635 3,317,965
2031 2035 2,583,340 314,844 2,898,184

2036 516,666 12,594 529,260

Total $ 7,750,000 $ 2,203,906 $ 9,953,906

The Series 2013, 2011 and 2016 arrangements discussed previously include other financial 
provisions as follows: 1) a 6% late charge on overdue payments in excess of fifteen days; 2) 
events of defaults such as violation of covenants, payment defaults, bankruptcy, insolvency, 
and uncured final non-appealable judgements may declare any unpaid principal and interest 
(acceleration of maturity) due immediately and bearing a default rate equal to the interest rate 
on the Note at the time of such default plus an additional spread ranging from 4% to 6% but 
never to exceed the maximum rate permitted by law; and 3) an anti-dilution test of 1.30X and 
1.50X as defined in the respective debt agreements – See the Debt Service Anti-Dilution 
Coverage table in the Statistical Section of this report. 
 
ROSENBAUER PAYABLE 

 
On July 15, 2015, the Town entered into a financing arrangement for the acquisition of a 
Rosenbauer Pumper Apparatus for the Volunteer Fire Department in the amount of $206,500. 
The loan calls for annual interest and principal payments at a fixed rate of 2.56% and the loan 
matures on June 11, 2023.   
 
The agreement provides that the lender is listed as the lienholder on the subject equipment, to 
the extent allowed by law.  The Town is required to make bona-fide best efforts to include all 
annual required payments in its annual budget.  If the Town fails to appropriate funding to meet 
the required payments, the equipment must be returned to the lender, at the expense of the 
Town, and the agreement shall then terminate upon the last day of the fiscal year for which 
funds were appropriated. 
 
The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on this obligation as of September 30, 
2020 are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 27,332 $ 2,153 $ 29,485
2022 28,032 1,454 29,486
2023 28,747 736 29,483

Total $ 84,111 $ 4,343 $ 88,454
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NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 

LOAN PAYABLE 
 
On April 7, 2010, the Town originally entered into a line of credit agreement with a financial 
institution in an amount not to exceed $2,000,000 for the purpose of financing road 
improvements and drainage projects in the Town.  The loan called for monthly interest 
payments at 2.75% during the draw period.  The principal amount outstanding at the end of the 
draw period shall be payable monthly, beginning May 7, 2012 in equal payments of principal 
and interest at 3.95% through April 7, 2022.  The Town covenants to budget and appropriate 
in its annual budget from legally available non-ad valorem revenues in each fiscal year, 
sufficient moneys to pay the principal and interest on the loan.   

 
In the event the Town fails to pay principal and interest when due on the loan or any other loan 
or obligation for the repayment of money; declare bankruptcy or insolvency; fails to correct 
any covenants, conditions or arrangements of this note and such default continues for 30 days 
after written notice requiring to be remedied; the holder of the note may proceed to protect and 
enforce its rights as allowed by law. 
 
The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on this obligation as of September 30, 
2020 are as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ending
September 30, Principal Interest Total

2021 $ 92,778 $ 4,190 $ 96,968
2022 57,208 730 57,938

Total $ 149,986 $ 4,920 $ 154,906
 

EMERGENCY LINE OF CREDIT - 2018 
 
On May 23, 2018, the Town entered into a revolving line of credit agreement with a financial 
institution in an amount not to exceed $10,000,000 for the purpose of expenditures for 
extraordinary, nonrecurring items the Town desires or needs to undertake subsequent to and as 
a result of a natural, technological or civil emergencies. The line of credit bears a variable 
interest rate calculated at 80.25% of the prime rate less 125 basis points (3.21% as of September 
30, 2019). Payments of accrued interest are due on the first day of each February, May, August 
and November, beginning on November 1, 2018, based on the amount drawn and repaid by the 
Town from time to time. The outstanding principal of this Line of Credit and any accrued and 
unpaid interest is payable on the maturity date unless renewed. The maturity date of the line of 
credit is May 23, 2023. The Town had no outstanding balance and available balance was 
$ 10,000,000 at September 30, 2020. 
 
The Town covenants to budget from legally available non-ad valorem revenues in each fiscal 
year sufficient funds to pay any principal and interest outstanding on the note.  Any outstanding 
balance on the line of credit is secured by an irrevocable lien on revenues from FEMA and 
State proceeds, which shall be used to pay down the outstanding balance within 30 days of 
receipt. This note may be extended by the lender, at its sole discretion, for additional periods, 
each to not exceed five years.  At such time, the Town is responsible for an extension fee of 
$ 25,000 plus legal fees associated with the renewal.  The lender, at its sole discretion, shall 
have the option to require the Town to prepay any outstanding amount on the loan in full on 
November 22, 2021 (the call date). 
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NOTE 7 – LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
In addition, this arrangement includes other financial provisions as follows: 1) a 6% late charge 
on overdue payments in excess of fifteen days; and 2) events of defaults such as violation of 
covenants, payment defaults, bankruptcy, insolvency, and certain uncured final non-appealable 
judgements may declare any unpaid principal and interest (acceleration of maturity) due 
immediately and bearing a default rate equal to prime rate plus 6% but never to exceed the 
maximum rate permitted by law. 
 
 

NOTE 8 – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to and 
destruction of assets, errors and omissions and natural disasters for which the Town carries 
commercial insurance. There were no reductions in insurance coverage from coverage 
requirements in the prior year. Settled claims did not exceed coverage requirements for each 
of the past three years. 

 
 
NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT FOR PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 
 
In June 2017, the Town entered into an agreement with the Town of Davie for public safety 
services, including emergency medical, fire protection, fire and life safety, and police service 
effective October 1, 2017 through September 30, 2022. The Town paid approximately 
$6,370,000 under this agreement for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020. 
 
AGREEMENT FOR PLANS REVIEW AND BUILDING INSPECTION SERVICES 
 
In 2012, the Town entered a service agreement through March 2015 for plan review and 
building inspection services. The agreement was extended on April 12, 2018 for thirty-six 
months, with extensions to be approved by the Town and contractor. The amount of 
compensation is based on rates and schedules set forth in the agreement with a maximum 
percentage of 75% of actual revenue received by the Town. For the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2020, the Town paid approximately $1,032,000 for these services. 
 
AGREEMENT FOR PLANNING SERVICES 
 
In 2014, the Town entered into a renegotiated agreement with a consultant to provide 
planning, zoning and land use services on an hourly rate fee structure. This agreement, which 
was set to expire September 30, 2017, was extended through September 30, 2020.  and is 
renewable upon the consent of both parties. The agreement was renewed to September 30, 
2023. For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020, the Town paid approximately $153,000 
for these services. 
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NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (CONTINUED) 
 
AGREEMENT FOR CODE COMPLIANCE AND ZONING SERVICES 
 
The Town entered into a service agreement with a provider for the provision of code 
compliance and zoning, including services, as the Code Compliance Official. This agreement 
is in effect through September 2022.  Either party may terminate this agreement upon 
providing 90 days written notice.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020, the Town 
paid approximately $297,000 for code compliance and zoning services.  
 
LITIGATION 
 
From time to time, the Town is a defendant in various suits and claims incidental to its 
operations.  Although the outcome of such litigation is not presently determinable, it is the 
opinion of the Town attorney and Town management that resolution of such matters, if any, 
will not have a material adverse effect on the financial position and results of operations of 
the Town. 
 
GRANTS AND AWARDS 
 
Amounts received or receivable from grant agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by 
grantor agencies.  Any disallowed claims, including amounts already collected, may constitute a 
liability of the Town.  The amount, if any, of expenditures which may be disallowed by the 
grantor cannot be determined at this time although the Town expects such amounts, if any, would 
not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Town. 

 
 
NOTE 10 – DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 
 

All regular full-time employees are eligible to be covered by the Town’s 401(a) Plan (the Plan), 
a defined contribution pension plan, administered by an independent agent, ICMA Retirement 
Corporation, and authorized by resolution effective March 27, 2014.  The Town’s policy is to 
fund the annual pension costs in each department during the annual budget process.  
 
Under the Plan, the Town matches, and therefore contributes, up to 5% or 10% (as a percentage 
of employees’ regular wages) of the employees’ annual elective contribution to an ICMA 457 
Plan (see Note 11) for both General and Management personnel, respectively. Each personnel 
group receives a 20% graduated vesting over various periods of time by completing one through 
five years of full-time employment.  Additionally, age 62, with 5 years of service, is the earliest 
age that personnel may elect to receive retirement benefits upon separation of service.  
 
Under the Plan, benefits depend solely on amounts contributed to the Plan plus investment 
earnings.  There was a total of 14 employees for both personnel groups participating under the 
Plan throughout fiscal year 2020.  The assets of the Plan are held in trust and are the sole property 
of the participants; therefore, no balances or financial information is reported in the Town’s basic 
financial statements.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020, the employer pension 
expense was approximately $81,000. 
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NOTE 11 – DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
The Town offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal 
Revenue Service (“IRS”) Code Section 457. The Plan, administered by the ICMA Retirement 
Corporation, which is available to all Town employees, permits them to defer a portion of their 
salaries until future years.  Participation in the Plan is optional. The deferred compensation plan 
is generally not available to employees until termination, retirement, death or the hardship 
distribution criteria as defined in IRS Code Section 457. The assets of the Plan are held in trust 
and are the sole property of the participants; therefore, no balances or financial information is 
reported in the Town’s basic financial statements. 
 

 
NOTE 12 – RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES 
 

The coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak has caused disruption in international and U.S.    
economies and markets. The coronavirus and fear of further spread has caused quarantines, 
cancellation of events, and overall reduction in business and economic activity.  On March 11, 
2020, the World Health Organization designated the coronavirus outbreak as a pandemic. 
Management and the Town Council continue to evaluate and monitor the potential adverse effect 
that this event may have on the City’s financial position, operations and cash flows.  The full 
impact of COVID-19 is unknown at this time and cannot be reasonably estimated as these events 
are still developing. 

 
 

NOTE 13 – SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 

On October 8th, 2020, the Town Council of Southwest Ranches tentatively entered into a long-
term, public-private lease agreement for use of 24.3622 +/- vacant and unimproved town acreage, 
if the tenant determines within a year that it is suitable for its purposes. The terms would allow 
the development of the property through the financing, construction, operation, and maintenance 
of two (2) uses that will serve a public purpose - a single source organic processing facility, with 
the retail sale of the end products of such processing, and a vehicle parking and equipment storage 
facility. The Town Council believes that entering into this long-term lease agreement is in the 
best interest of the health, safety, and welfare of its residents. When operational, the financial 
impact provides at a minimum, payment of the debt service on the property. 

 
 
NOTE 14 – DATE OF MANAGEMENT REVIEW 
 

The Town’s management has evaluated subsequent events through March 5, 2021, the date 
which the financial statements were available for issuance. 
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Ad valorem taxes $ 6,549,694  $ 6,549,694  $ 6,633,543  $ 83,849         
Utility taxes 1,201,321  1,201,321  1,221,282  19,961         
Franchise fees 668,079     668,079     668,534     455              
Licenses and permits 843,734     1,669,967  1,696,926  26,959         
Intergovernmental 634,683     744,500     604,503     (139,997)      
Charges for services 2,130,249  2,130,249  2,155,792  25,543         
Fines and forfeitures 243,600     335,228     306,019     (29,209)        
Investment income 92,784       92,784       76,052       (16,732)        
Miscellaneous 107,689     143,014     152,734     9,720           

Total Revenues 12,471,833 13,534,836 13,515,385 (19,451)        

Expenditures
Current:
  General government 2,485,463  2,519,987  2,252,910  267,077       
   Public safety:
      Law enforcement 2,919,093  2,919,093  2,899,711  19,382         
      Fire control 3,607,618  3,604,457  3,584,881  19,576         
   Total public safety 6,526,711  6,523,550  6,484,592  38,958         

  Community services and development 1,132,978  1,767,604  1,731,518  36,086         
  Parks and recreation 415,377     421,077     407,633     13,444         
  Emergency services 592            592            12,094       (11,502)        
Capital outlay 79,308       230,469     64,507       165,962       

Total Expenditures 10,640,429 11,463,279 10,953,254 510,025       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
 over Expenditures 1,831,404  2,071,557  2,562,131  490,574       

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 251,160     251,160     251,160     -               
Transfers out (2,155,564) (2,615,701) (2,618,208) (2,507)          

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,904,404) (2,364,541) (2,367,048) (2,507)          

Change in Fund Balance $ (73,000)      $ (292,984)    $ 195,083     $ 488,067       

Appropriated Beginning Fund Balance $ 73,000       $ 292,984     

Budgeted Amounts

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida

Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020

Required Supplementary Information
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Intergovernmental $ 547,943    $ 1,316,943 $ 719,891   $ (597,052)      
Investment income 5,000        5,000        26,330     21,330         

Total Revenues 552,943    1,321,943 746,221   (575,722)      

Expenditures
Current:
  Transportation 489,734    503,924    467,192   36,732         
  Capital outlay 1,618,591 3,245,421 843,049   2,402,372    

Total Expenditures 2,108,325 3,749,345 1,310,241 2,439,104    

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
 over Expenditures (1,555,382) (2,427,402) (564,020)  1,863,382    

Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 862,267    1,322,404 1,322,404 -               

Total Other Financing Sources 862,267    1,322,404 1,322,404 -               

Change in Fund Balance $ (693,115)   $ (1,104,998) $ 758,384   $ 1,863,382    

Appropriated Beginning Fund Balance $ 693,115    $ 1,104,998

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida

Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Transportation Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020

Budgeted Amounts

Required Supplementary Information
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Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
Required Supplementary Information 

Note to Budgetary Comparison Schedules 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 

 
 
The Town follows the procedures below in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the 
accompanying financial statements. 
 
NOTE 1 - BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
 

a. Prior to September 1, the Town Administrator submits to the Town Council a proposed 
operating budget for the ensuing fiscal year, commencing October 1.  The operating 
budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of funding them. 
 

b. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments. 
 

c. Prior to October 1, the budget is legally enacted through passage of an ordinance. 
 

d. Upon request of the Town Administrator or Town Financial Administrator, the Town 
Council, in the form of a resolution, may amend the budget, make changes between funds 
or from a reserve, and increase or decrease a fund.  The Town Administrator or Town 
Financial Administrator may make changes within a department.  Therefore, the legal 
level of control is at the department level.  At the close of each fiscal year, the 
unencumbered balance of each appropriation reverts to the fund from which it was 
appropriated and is subject to future appropriations. 
 

e. Annual appropriated budgets are adopted for the General Fund, the Transportation Fund, 
the Capital Projects Fund and the Debt Service Fund on a basis consistent with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.   
 

f. The reported budgetary data represents the final approved budgets after amendments 
(supplemental appropriations) adopted by the Town Council.  The Volunteer Fire 
Department Fund’s budget is not legally adopted by the Town Council. 
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Total
Volunteer Debt Nonmajor

Fire Service Governmental 
Department Fund Funds

Assets
Cash $ 55,219 $ 217,623 $ 272,842
Due from other funds 3,850 -                 3,850
Prepaid items 4,167 -                 4,167

Total Assets $ 63,236 $ 217,623 $ 280,859

Liabilities and Fund Balances
Liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 20,045 $ -                 $ 20,045

Total Liabilities 20,045 -                 20,045

Fund Balances
Non-spendable:
  Prepaid items 4,167 -                 4,167
Restricted for:
  Fire control and rescue services 39,024 -                 39,024
Assigned for:
  Debt service -                 217,623 217,623

Total Fund Balances 43,191 217,623 260,814

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 63,236 $ 217,623 $ 280,859

Combining Balance Sheet
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida

September 30, 2020
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Total
Volunteer Debt Nonmajor

Fire Service Governmental 
Department Fund Funds

Revenues
Investment income $ 772                $ 524                $ 1,296             
Miscellaneous 5,763             -                 5,763             

Total Revenues 6,535             524                7,059             

Expenditures
Current:
  Fire and rescue services 200,456         -                 200,456         
Debt service:
  Principal -                 588,432         588,432         
  Interest and fiscal charges -                 317,535         317,535         

Total Expenditures 200,456         905,967         1,106,423      

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over
 Expenditures (193,921)        (905,443)        (1,099,364)     

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 195,013         1,028,791      1,223,804      
Transfers out -                 (29,868)          (29,868)          

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 195,013         998,923         1,193,936      

Change in Fund Balances 1,092             93,480           94,572           

Fund Balances - Beginning 42,099           124,143         166,242         

Fund Balances - Ending $ 43,191           $ 217,623         $ 260,814         

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Nonmajor Governmental Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Investment income $ -             $ -             $ 524            $ 524                

Total Revenues -             -             524            524                

Expenditures
Debt service:
   Principal 588,621     588,621     588,432     189                
   Interest and fiscal charges 319,791     319,791     317,535     2,256             

Total Expenditures 908,412     908,412     905,967     2,445             

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
 over Expenditures (908,412)    (908,412)    (905,443)    2,969             

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers in 1,028,791  1,028,791  1,028,791  -                 
Transfers out (120,379)    (120,379)    (29,868)      90,511           

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 908,412     908,412     998,923     90,511           

Change in Fund Balance $ -             $ -             $ 93,480       $ 93,480           

Appropriated Beginning Fund Balance $ -             $ -             

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida

Debt Service Fund
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020

Budgeted Amounts

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balance - Budget and Actual
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Variance with
Final Budget

Actual Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

Revenues
Investment income $ -            $ -            $ 2,675        $ 2,675           
Intergovernmental 180,000    180,000    -            (180,000)      

Total Revenues 180,000    180,000    2,675        (177,325)      

Expenditures
Capital outlay 275,039    348,265    72,788      275,477       

Total Expenditures 275,039    348,265    72,788      275,477       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
 over Expenditures (95,039)     (168,265)   (70,113)     98,152         

Other Financing Sources
Transfers in 72,000      72,000      72,000      -               

Total Other Financing Sources 72,000      72,000      72,000      -               

Change in Fund Balance $ (23,039)     $ (96,265)     $ 1,887        $ 98,152         

Appropriated Beginning Fund Balance $ 23,039      $ 96,265      

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida

Capital Projects Fund 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020

Budgeted Amounts

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balance - Budget and Actual 
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Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
Introduction to Statistical Section (Unaudited) 
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 

 

This part of Town of Southwest Ranches' comprehensive annual financial report 
presents detailed information as a context for understanding this year's financial 
statements, note disclosures, and supplementary information. This information is 
unaudited. 
 
Contents Page 
 
Financial Trends 
 
These tables contain trend information that may assist the reader in assessing 
the Town's currentfinancial performance by placing it in historical perspective. 49-64 
 
Revenue Capacity 
 
These tables contain information that may assist the reader in assessing 
the Town's most significant local revenue source, the property taxes. 65-71 
 
Debt Capacity 
 
These tables contain information that may assist the reader in analyzing 
the affordability of the Town's current levels of outstanding debt and the 
Town's ability to issue debt in the future. 72-74 
 
Demographic and Economic Information 
 
These tables present demographic and economic information intended (1) 
to assist users in understanding the socioeconomic environment within which 
the Town operates and (2) to provide information that facilitates comparisons 
of financial statement information over time and among towns.  75-77 
 
Operating Information 
 
These tables contain service and infrastructure indicators that can inform one's 
understanding how the information in the Town's financial statements relates 
to the services the Town provides and the activities it performs. 78-79 
 
Data Source: 
 
Unless otherwise noted, the information in these tables is derived from the 
comprehensive annual financial report for the applicable year. 
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Exhibit XI

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
General Fund:
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items $ 31,432 $ 207,568       $ 25,222         $ 27,058         $ 28,763         $ 28,382         $ 29,569         $ 30,250         $ 30,858         $ 48,517         
Inventory/assets held 

   for resale 138,848      138,848       482,720       482,720       482,720       482,720       482,720       359,210       359,210       359,210       
Deposits    25,001        -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

   Total nonspendable 195,281      346,416       507,942       509,778       511,483       511,102       512,289       389,460       390,068       407,727       

Restricted for:
Fire control and rescue
 services -             -              -              128,291       308,982       363,897       484,719       423,679       335,061       292,113       
Public safety 3,663          6,445           10,933         11,020         12,550         6,470           7,579           7,579           8,553           8,553           
Town Hall brick program 16,800        18,200         -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              
Building -             -              -              -              -              181,033       178,979       196,796       204,859       210,004       

Total restricted 20,463        24,645         10,933         139,311       321,532       551,400       671,277       628,054       548,473       510,670       

Committed to:
Tree preservation 20,877        20,877         3,086           3,086           3,086           -              -              1,229           1,229           1,229           
Capital projects -             -              9,850           -              -              -              20,324         20,324         20,324         4,380           

Total committed 20,877        20,877         12,936         3,086           3,086           -              20,324         21,553         21,553         5,609           

Assigned for:
Capital projects -             -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              17,500         

Total assigned -             -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              17,500         

Unassigned 2,360,778 2,494,249 3,458,623 3,830,892 4,365,118 2,484,910 2,704,947 2,790,184 3,939,370 4,153,041

Total General Fund $ 2,597,399 $ 2,886,187 $ 3,990,434 $ 4,483,067 $ 5,201,219 $ 3,547,412 $ 3,908,837 $ 3,829,251 $ 4,899,464 $ 5,094,547

General Fund % Change
 From Prior Year 24.1% 11.1% 38.3% 12.3% 16.0% -31.8% 10.2% -2.0% 27.9% 4.0%

All Other Governmental 
 Funds:

Nonspendable:
Prepaid items $ 810 $ 3,349 $ 3,654 $ 3,857 $ 1,574 $ 2,242 $ 2,534 $ 2,613 $ 3,574 $ 4,167
Deposits 15,000 -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              

Total nonspendable 15,810 3,349 3,654 3,857 1,574 2,242 2,534 2,613 3,574 4,167

   Restricted for:
Transportation 696,179 517,455 312,740 389,361 331,973 636,587 537,821 758,804 710,632 398,610
Fire control and rescue
 services 40,376        40,807         47,248         70,977         281,656 161,137 168,937 37,036         46,136         39,024         
Capital projects -                 -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  20,411 -              -              

Total restricted 736,555 558,262 359,988 460,338 613,629 797,724 706,758 816,251 756,768 437,634

Committed for:
Capital projects -             150,000 60,376 209,053 359,943 149,213 224,661 217,088 458,204 64,738

   Transportation -             -              -              -              -              129,678 593,825 291,955 522,639 1,922,934

 Total committed -             150,000       60,376         209,053       359,943       278,891       818,486       509,043       980,843       1,987,672

Assigned to:
Debt service 164,278 37,548 15,069 28,448 36,534 12,079 25,266 168,819 124,143 217,623
Public safety 129,750 -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              
Fire wells 80,000 -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              -              
Capital projects 109,873 354,621 584,686 269,077 249,800 205,476 156,624 84,417 112,597 185,672

 Total assigned 483,901 392,169 599,755 297,525 286,334 217,555 181,890 253,236 236,740 403,295

Total All Other 
 Governmental Funds $ 1,236,266 $ 1,103,780 $ 1,023,773 $ 970,773 $ 1,261,480 $ 1,296,412 $ 1,709,668 $ 1,581,143 $ 1,977,925 $ 2,832,768

All Other Governmental Funds
 % Change From Prior Year -18.1% -10.7% -7.2% -5.2% 29.9% 2.8% 31.9% -7.5% 25.1% 43.2%

Total Governmental Funds $ 3,833,665 $ 3,989,967 $ 5,014,207 $ 5,453,840 $ 6,462,699 $ 4,843,824 $ 5,618,505 $ 5,410,394 $ 6,877,389 $ 7,927,315

All Governmental Funds
 % Change From Prior Year 15.1% 4.1% 25.7% 8.8% 18.5% -25.0% 16.0% -3.7% 27.1% 15.3%

Data Source:
Applicable years' comprehensive annual financial report.

(modified accrual basis of accounting)
September 30,

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (Unaudited)

Fiscal Year 2020 and Nine Years Prior
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Exhibit XIV

Total Taxes
Fiscal Levy for Percentage Collections in Amount Percentage
Year Fiscal Year Amount of Levy Subsequent Years Collected of Levy

2011 $ 4,479,936       $ 4,275,648    95.44% $ 61,831                     $ 4,337,479     96.82%
2012 $ 4,318,983       $ 4,131,352    95.66% $ 124,971                   $ 4,256,323     98.55%
2013 $ 4,323,515       $ 4,256,493    98.45% $ 64,519                     $ 4,321,012     99.94%
2014 $ 4,433,004       $ 4,389,935    99.03% $ (9,075)                      $ 4,380,860     98.82%
2015 $ 5,142,216       $ 4,964,524    96.54% $ 4,778                       $ 4,969,302     96.64%
2016 $ 5,412,895       $ 5,285,675    97.65% $ 7,547                       $ 5,293,222     97.79%
2017 $ 5,800,986       $ 5,687,676    98.05% $ 17,984                     $ 5,705,660     98.36%
2018 $ 6,181,457       $ 6,045,637    97.80% $ 17,372                     $ 6,063,009     98.08%
2019 $ 6,832,483       $ 6,783,089    99.28% $ 19,191                     $ 6,802,280     99.56%
2020 $ 6,913,163       $ 6,838,577    98.92% $ -                           $ 6,838,577     98.92%

Notes: 

Data Source:  
 Broward County Property Appraisal Office.

   1  Includes discount taken for early payment of property taxes and current year refunds.

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Total Property Tax Levies and Collections (Unaudited)

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Collected Within the Total
Fiscal Year of the Levy 1 Collections to Date

 
March 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

 
Page 96 of 156



70

E
xh

ib
it 

X
V

-A

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

of
 T

ot
al

 
of

 T
ot

al
 

Ta
xa

bl
e

Ta
xa

bl
e

Ta
xa

bl
e

Ta
xa

bl
e

A
ss

es
se

d
A

ss
es

se
d

A
ss

es
se

d
A

ss
es

se
d

Pr
in

ci
pa

l T
ax

pa
ye

r
V

al
ue

 
R

an
k

V
al

ue
Pr

in
ci

pa
l T

ax
pa

ye
r

V
al

ue
 

R
an

k
V

al
ue

C
oq

ui
na

 S
ta

tio
n 

LL
C

$
18

,9
39

,8
00

   
   

   
  

1
1.

33
%

Lo
w

es
 H

om
e 

C
en

te
rs

, I
nc

.
$

14
,6

63
,4

40
   

   
   

  
1

1.
36

%
Lo

w
es

 H
om

e 
C

en
te

rs
, I

nc
.

10
,5

00
,0

00
   

   
   

  
2

0.
74

%
U

S 
R

et
ai

l I
nc

om
e 

Fu
nd

13
,3

88
,0

80
   

   
   

  
2

1.
24

%
C

ub
es

m
ar

t L
P

7,
71

6,
96

0
   

   
   

   
 

3
0.

54
%

R
ay

m
on

d 
an

d 
B

ai
dw

at
te

 M
os

es
4,

89
1,

31
0

   
   

   
   

 
3

0.
45

%
To

ll 
So

ut
he

as
t L

P
6,

95
6,

55
0

   
   

   
   

 
4

0.
49

%
Y

SI
 L

LC
4,

43
2,

20
0

   
   

   
   

 
4

0.
41

%
M

os
es

, R
ay

m
on

d 
&

 B
ai

dw
at

te
6,

05
0,

16
0

   
   

   
   

 
5

0.
43

%
La

nd
m

ar
k 

C
us

to
m

 R
an

ch
es

4,
36

3,
50

0
   

   
   

   
 

5
0.

40
%

Pi
nt

al
ug

a,
 E

ric
 &

 R
ob

yn
5,

67
8,

40
0

   
   

   
   

 
6

0.
40

%
W

ay
ne

 P
et

a,
 G

ay
 &

 R
eg

in
al

d
4,

31
3,

68
0

   
   

   
   

 
6

0.
40

%
M

-N
-C

 P
ro

pe
rty

 H
ol

di
ng

s L
LC

4,
84

5,
42

0
   

   
   

   
 

7
0.

34
%

Fi
nk

el
, N

at
ha

n 
&

 Ja
cq

ue
lin

e
4,

11
7,

45
0

   
   

   
   

 
7

0.
38

%
M

an
da

la
y 

Es
ta

te
s

4,
66

3,
92

0
   

   
   

   
 

8
0.

33
%

M
ar

sh
al

l, 
B

ra
nd

on
4,

00
9,

78
0

   
   

   
   

 
8

0.
37

%
N

ec
uz

e,
 G

er
ra

rd
o,

 &
 M

ar
ci

a
4,

32
2,

29
0

   
   

   
   

 
9

0.
30

%
M

G
T 

So
ut

hw
es

t R
an

ch
es

3,
66

2,
17

0
   

   
   

   
 

9
0.

34
%

Jo
hn

 H
 O

w
oc

 R
ev

oc
ab

le
 T

ru
st

4,
29

2,
74

0
   

   
   

   
 

10
0.

30
%

Le
vi

ne
, S

us
an

3,
63

9,
50

0
   

   
   

   
 

10
0.

34
%

T
ot

al
 P

ri
nc

ip
al

 T
ax

pa
ye

rs
73

,9
66

,2
40

5.
21

%
T

ot
al

 P
ri

nc
ip

al
 T

ax
pa

ye
rs

61
,4

81
,1

10
5.

69
%

A
ll 

O
th

er
 T

ax
pa

ye
rs

1,
34

4,
90

9,
09

1
94

.7
9%

A
ll 

O
th

er
 T

ax
pa

ye
rs

1,
01

8,
08

3,
27

9
94

.3
1%

T
ot

al
 T

ax
ab

le
 A

ss
es

se
d 

V
al

ue
$

1,
41

8,
87

5,
33

1
10

0.
00

%
T

ot
al

 T
ax

ab
le

 A
ss

es
se

d 
V

al
ue

$
1,

07
9,

56
4,

38
9

10
0.

00
%

 
D

at
a 

So
ur

ce
:

 
 B

ro
w

ar
d 

C
ou

nt
y 

R
ec

or
ds

, T
ax

es
 a

nd
 T

re
as

ur
y 

D
iv

is
io

n.

T
ow

n 
of

 S
ou

th
w

es
t R

an
ch

es
, F

lo
ri

da
 

Pr
in

ci
pa

l R
ea

l P
ro

pe
rt

y 
T

ax
pa

ye
rs

 (U
na

ud
ite

d)
C

ur
re

nt
 Y

ea
r 

an
d 

N
in

e 
Y

ea
rs

 P
ri

or

FY
 2

01
1

FY
 2

02
0

 
March 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

 
Page 97 of 156



71

E
xh

ib
it 

X
V

-B

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

of
 T

ot
al

 
of

 T
ot

al
 

Ta
xa

bl
e

Ta
xa

bl
e

Ta
xa

bl
e

Ta
xa

bl
e

A
ss

es
se

d
A

ss
es

se
d

A
ss

es
se

d
A

ss
es

se
d

Pr
in

ci
pa

l T
ax

pa
ye

r
V

al
ue

 
R

an
k

V
al

ue
Pr

in
ci

pa
l T

ax
pa

ye
r

V
al

ue
 

R
an

k
V

al
ue

Fl
or

id
a 

Po
w

er
 a

nd
 L

ig
ht

 C
o.

$
43

,4
02

,9
12

   
   

   
 

1
76

.7
9%

Fl
or

id
a 

Po
w

er
 a

nd
 L

ig
ht

 C
o.

$
30

,9
63

,7
53

   
   

1
66

.1
3%

A
T&

T 
Fl

or
id

a 
(f

or
m

al
ly

 B
el

ls
ou

th
 T

el
e)

1,
19

0,
09

8
   

   
   

   
2

2.
11

%
B

el
ls

ou
th

 T
el

ec
om

m
un

ic
at

io
ns

2,
56

1,
31

1
   

   
  

2
5.

47
%

Sp
rin

t S
pe

ct
ru

m
1,

10
7,

05
0

   
   

   
   

3
1.

96
%

Lo
w

es
 H

om
e 

C
en

te
rs

1,
64

2,
13

6
   

   
  

3
3.

51
%

C
om

ca
st

99
9,

28
1

   
   

   
   

   
4

1.
77

%
Pu

bl
ix

 S
up

er
m

ar
ke

ts
 #

 6
19

88
4,

37
3

   
   

   
  

4
1.

89
%

TI
A

A
 C

om
m

er
ci

al
 F

in
an

ce
 In

c 
88

5,
07

6
   

   
   

   
   

5
1.

57
%

FP
L 

Fi
be

rn
et

 L
LC

68
2,

78
5

   
   

   
  

5
1.

46
%

D
ra

ftP
ro

s
81

3,
22

2
   

   
   

   
   

6
1.

44
%

Sh
el

l
41

6,
82

0
   

   
   

  
6

0.
89

%
Lo

w
es

 H
om

e 
C

en
te

rs
, I

nc
.

64
4,

51
9

   
   

   
   

   
7

1.
14

%
A

pp
le

 T
re

e 
M

on
te

ss
or

i S
ch

oo
l

39
3,

27
3

   
   

   
  

7
0.

84
%

Pu
bl

ix
 S

up
er

m
ar

ke
ts

 #
 6

19
55

7,
04

3
   

   
   

   
   

8
0.

99
%

M
et

ro
 P

C
S

39
1,

59
9

   
   

   
  

8
0.

84
%

A
T&

T 
M

ob
ili

ty
46

5,
27

3
   

   
   

   
   

9
0.

82
%

A
pp

le
be

es
38

2,
77

5
   

   
   

  
9

0.
82

%
To

m
 T

hu
m

b
42

3,
12

4
   

   
   

   
   

10
0.

75
%

W
al

gr
ee

ns
37

9,
04

0
   

   
   

  
10

0.
81

%

T
ot

al
 P

ri
nc

ip
al

 T
ax

pa
ye

rs
50

,4
87

,5
98

89
.3

2%
T

ot
al

 P
ri

nc
ip

al
 T

ax
pa

ye
rs

38
,6

97
,8

65
82

.6
5%

A
ll 

O
th

er
 T

ax
pa

ye
rs

6,
03

3,
92

8
10

.6
8%

A
ll 

O
th

er
 T

ax
pa

ye
rs

8,
12

6,
10

7
17

.3
5%

T
ot

al
 T

ax
ab

le
 A

ss
es

se
d 

V
al

ue
$

56
,5

21
,5

26
10

0.
00

%
T

ot
al

 T
ax

ab
le

 A
ss

es
se

d 
V

al
ue

$
46

,8
23

,9
72

10
0.

00
%

D
at

a 
So

ur
ce

:
 B

ro
w

ar
d 

C
ou

nt
y 

R
ec

or
ds

, T
ax

es
 a

nd
 T

re
as

ur
y 

D
iv

is
io

n.

T
ow

n 
of

 S
ou

th
w

es
t R

an
ch

es
, F

lo
ri

da
 

Pr
in

ci
pa

l P
er

so
na

l P
ro

pe
rt

y 
T

ax
pa

ye
rs

 (U
na

ud
ite

d)
C

ur
re

nt
 Y

ea
r 

an
d 

N
in

e 
Y

ea
rs

 P
ri

or

FY
 2

02
0

FY
 2

01
1

 
March 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

 
Page 98 of 156



72

E
xh

ib
it 

X
V

I

G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l A
ct

iv
ity

 D
eb

t:

Fl
or

id
a

Fl
or

id
a 

Lo
ca

l

M
un

ic
ip

al
G

ov
er

nm
en

t
TD

 L
O

C

Lo
an

 C
ou

nc
il

Fi
na

nc
e

Se
rie

s 2
01

8
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

To
ta

l

Lo
an

 
C

om
m

iss
io

n
TD

 N
ot

e
TD

 N
ot

e
C

en
te

nn
ia

l
C

ap
ita

l
TD

 N
ot

e
TD

 N
ot

e
SW

 F
un

d 
&

 
of

 P
er

so
na

l
D

eb
t

Se
pt

em
be

r 3
0,

Se
rie

s 2
00

1
Lo

an
s 

Se
rie

s 2
01

1
Se

rie
s 2

01
3

Lo
an

 P
ay

ab
le

Le
as

e
Pa

ya
bl

e
Se

rie
s 2

01
6

G
ov

't 
Fu

nd
s

To
ta

l
In

co
m

e 
(1

)
Pe

r C
ap

ita

20
11

$
4,

19
4,

41
6

$
2,

50
0,

00
0

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
44

3,
03

9
$

62
,4

39
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
7,

19
9,

89
4

0.
01

08
%

$
98

0

20
12

$
4,

07
7,

57
4

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
2,

33
5,

17
5

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

76
6,

01
9

$
47

,6
38

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

7,
22

6,
40

6
0.

00
92

%
$

97
9

20
13

$
1,

64
0,

00
0

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
2,

11
0,

12
5

$
2,

65
9,

80
0

$
70

4,
26

1
$

32
,5

29
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
7,

14
6,

71
5

0.
00

89
%

$
96

6

20
14

$
1,

64
0,

00
0

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
1,

87
8,

85
4

$
2,

47
5,

10
0

$
63

4,
21

7
$

16
,4

76
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
6,

64
4,

64
7

0.
00

82
%

$
86

6

20
15

$
1,

64
0,

00
0

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
1,

64
1,

20
4

$
2,

29
2,

90
0

$
56

1,
31

6
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
20

6,
50

0
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

6,
34

1,
92

0
0.

00
74

%
$

81
7

20
16

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
1,

39
7,

00
0

$
2,

10
8,

50
0

$
48

5,
50

6
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
18

6,
78

6
$

7,
75

0,
00

0
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
11

,9
27

,7
92

0.
01

37
%

$
1,

51
9

20
17

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
1,

14
6,

06
1

$
1,

91
7,

30
0

$
40

6,
54

0
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
16

2,
08

2
$

7,
75

0,
00

0
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
11

,3
81

,9
83

0.
01

25
%

$
1,

44
2

20
18

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
88

8,
20

1
$

1,
72

4,
50

0
$

32
4,

52
6

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

13
6,

74
6

$
7,

75
0,

00
0

$
75

,3
70

   
   

   
 

$
10

,8
99

,3
43

0.
01

14
%

$
1,

37
0

20
19

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
62

3,
22

9
$

1,
52

5,
40

0
$

23
8,

98
8

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

11
0,

76
1

$
7,

75
0,

00
0

$
$

10
,2

48
,3

78
0.

01
00

%
$

1,
28

4

20
20

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
35

0,
94

9
$

1,
32

4,
90

0
$

14
9,

98
6

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

84
,1

11
$

7,
75

0,
00

0
$

$
9,

65
9,

94
6

{i
}

$
1,

21
4

B
us

in
es

s-
T

yp
e 

A
ct

iv
ity

 D
eb

t:
2

20
18

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

3,
65

5,
85

5
   

  
$

3,
65

5,
85

5
0.

01
14

%
$

45
9

20
19

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

1,
76

1,
69

8
   

  
$

1,
76

1,
69

8
0.

01
00

%
$

22
1

20
20

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
  

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
$

-
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

   
-

   
   

   
   

   
   

$
-

   
   

   
   

  

N
ot

es
:

2 
Bu

sin
es

s-
Ty

pe
 A

ct
iv

ity
 D

eb
t d

id
 n

ot
 e

xi
st

 p
rio

r t
o 

20
18

D
at

a 
So

ur
ce

:  

{i
} 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

no
t a

va
ila

bl
e 

fro
m

 C
ou

nt
y.

T
ow

n 
of

 S
ou

th
w

es
t R

an
ch

es
, F

lo
ri

da
 

  A
pp

lic
ab

le
 y

ea
rs

' c
om

pr
eh

en
siv

e 
an

nu
al

 fi
na

nc
ia

l r
ep

or
t.

R
at

io
s o

f O
ut

st
an

di
ng

 D
eb

t b
y 

T
yp

e 
(U

na
ud

ite
d)

L
as

t T
en

 F
is

ca
l Y

ea
rs

1
 T

he
 p

er
ce

nt
ag

e 
of

 p
er

so
na

l i
nc

om
e 

is 
ba

se
d 

on
 p

er
so

na
l i

nc
om

e 
fo

r B
ro

w
ar

d 
C

ou
nt

y 
sin

ce
 p

er
so

na
l i

nc
om

e 
fo

r t
he

 T
ow

n 
is 

no
t a

va
ila

bl
e.

 
March 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

 
Page 99 of 156



73

E
xh

ib
it 

X
V

I-
A

T
D

 2
01

8 
E

m
er

ge
nc

y 
L

in
e 

of
 C

re
di

t, 
N

ot
es

 P
ay

ab
le

 S
er

ie
s 2

01
6,

 2
01

3 
an

d 
20

11
Te

st
 o

f P
ri

or
 T

w
o 

Ye
ar

 A
ve

ra
ge

 o
f N

on
 A

dv
al

or
em

 R
ev

en
ue

s:
 

N
et

 
 

A
ve

ra
ge

N
on

-A
dv

al
or

e m
To

ta
l

D
eb

t
To

ta
l

D
eb

t
A

dj
us

te
d

A
dj

us
te

d
R

ev
en

ue
s  

A
nn

ua
l

Se
rv

ic
e

M
ax

 A
nn

ua
l

N
e t

Se
rv

ic
e

N
on

-A
dv

al
or

e m
Es

se
nt

ia
l

A
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r
D

eb
t

C
ov

er
ag

e
C

ov
er

ag
e

Ex
ce

ss
D

eb
t

C
as

h 
C

ov
er

ag
e

C
ov

er
ag

e
Ex

ce
ss

R
ev

en
ue

s  
Ex

pe
nd

itu
re

s
D

eb
t S

er
vi

ce
Se

rv
ic

e
R

at
io

R
eq

ui
re

d
C

ov
er

ag
e

Se
rv

ic
e

Fl
ow

R
at

io
R

eq
ui

re
d

C
ov

er
ag

e
20

20
$

6,
89

9
$

1,
87

3
$

5,
02

6
$

92
2

5.
45

%
1.

30
%

4.
15

%
$

1,
15

7
   

   
   

  
$

3,
86

9
   

   
   

  
4.

34
%

1.
50

%
2.

84
%

20
19

$
6,

57
7

$
2,

00
0

$
4,

57
7

$
1,

02
6

4.
46

%
1.

30
%

3.
16

%
$

1,
26

3
   

   
   

  
$

3,
31

4
   

   
   

  
3.

62
%

1.
50

%
2.

12
%

20
18

$
5,

89
7

$
2,

08
3

$
3,

81
4

$
95

3
4.

00
%

1.
30

%
2.

70
%

$
1,

38
6

   
   

   
  

$
2,

42
8

   
   

   
  

2.
75

%
1.

50
%

1.
25

%
20

17
$

5,
63

4
$

1,
93

6
$

3,
69

8
$

92
5

4.
00

%
1.

30
%

2.
70

%
$

1,
15

2
   

   
   

  
$

2,
54

6
   

   
   

  
3.

21
%

1.
50

%
1.

71
%

20
16

$
5,

70
6

$
2,

07
6

$
3,

63
0

$
72

4
5.

01
%

1.
30

%
3.

71
%

$
1,

15
2

   
   

   
  

$
2,

47
8

   
   

   
  

3.
15

%
1.

50
%

1.
65

%

T
D

 N
ot

es
 P

ay
ab

le
 S

er
ie

s 2
01

3 
an

d 
20

11
 - 

m
od

ifi
ed

 a
bo

ve
 d

ur
in

g 
F

Y 
20

16
 p

ur
su

an
t t

o 
TD

 S
er

ie
s 2

01
6 

is
su

an
ce

N
on

-A
dv

al
or

em
To

ta
l

D
eb

t
To

ta
l

D
eb

t
R

ev
en

ue
s  

A
nn

ua
l

N
e t

Se
rv

ic
e

M
ax

 A
nn

ua
l

N
et

Se
rv

ic
e

A
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r
D

eb
t

C
as

h 
C

ov
er

ag
e

C
ov

er
ag

e
Ex

ce
ss

D
eb

t
C

as
h 

C
ov

er
ag

e
C

ov
er

ag
e

Ex
ce

ss
D

eb
t S

er
vi

ce
Se

rv
ic

e
Fl

ow
R

at
io

R
eq

ui
re

d
C

ov
er

ag
e

Se
rv

ic
e

Fl
ow

R
at

io
R

eq
ui

re
d

C
ov

er
ag

e

20
15

$
1,

93
7

$
72

3
$

1,
21

4
2.

68
%

1.
30

%
1.

38
%

$
73

4
   

   
   

   
  

$
1,

20
3

2.
64

%
1.

50
%

1.
14

%
20

14
$

1,
52

4
$

72
0

$
80

4
2.

12
%

1.
30

%
0.

82
%

$
72

3
   

   
   

   
  

$
80

1
2.

11
%

1.
50

%
0.

61
%

20
13

$
1,

84
2

$
71

2
$

1,
13

0
2.

59
%

1.
30

%
1.

29
%

$
72

3
   

   
   

   
  

$
1,

11
9

2.
55

%
1.

50
%

1.
05

%
20

12
$

1,
31

5
$

60
9

$
70

6
2.

16
%

1.
30

%
0.

86
%

$
72

3
   

   
   

   
  

$
59

2
1.

82
%

1.
50

%
0.

32
%

FM
L

C
 L

oa
n 

Pa
ya

bl
e 

Se
ri

es
 2

00
1 

- r
et

ir
ed

 d
ur

in
g 

F
Y 

20
16

A
. T

es
t o

f P
ri

or
 T

w
o 

Ye
ar

 A
ve

ra
ge

 o
f N

on
 A

dv
al

or
em

 R
ev

en
ue

s:
N

e t
 

A
ve

ra
ge

N
on

-A
dv

al
or

e m
To

ta
l

D
eb

t
A

dj
us

te
d

A
dj

us
te

d
R

ev
en

ue
s  

M
ax

 A
nn

ua
l

Se
rv

ic
e

N
on

-A
dv

al
or

e m
Es

se
nt

ia
l

A
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r
D

eb
t

C
ov

er
ag

e
C

ov
er

ag
e

Ex
ce

ss
R

ev
en

ue
s  

Ex
pe

nd
itu

re
s

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

Se
rv

ic
e

R
at

io
R

eq
ui

re
d

C
ov

er
ag

e
20

15
$

5,
79

2
$

2,
48

8
$

3,
30

4
$

73
4

45
0.

12
   

   
   

 
%

15
0.

00
%

30
0.

12
%

20
14

$
5,

36
2

$
2,

52
6

$
2,

83
6

$
72

3
39

2.
19

   
   

   
 

%
15

0.
00

%
24

2.
19

%
  2

01
3 

2
$

4,
97

0
$

2,
36

8
$

2,
60

2
$

72
3

35
9.

89
   

   
   

 
%

15
0.

00
%

20
9.

89
%

B.
Pr

oj
ec

te
d 

M
ax

im
um

 a
nn

ua
l d

eb
t s

er
vi

ce
 d

oe
s n

ot
 e

xc
ee

d 
20

%
 o

f G
ov

er
nm

en
ta

l F
un

d 
R

ev
en

ue
s:

Tw
o 

Y
ea

r A
vg

To
ta

l
D

eb
t

N
et

 to
ta

l
M

ax
 A

nn
ua

l
Se

rv
ic

e
M

ax
im

u m
G

ov
er

nm
en

ta
l

D
eb

t
C

ov
er

ag
e

A
llo

w
ed

 
Ex

ce
ss

Fu
nd

s R
ev

en
ue

Se
rv

ic
e

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
Pe

rc
en

ta
ge

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
20

15
$

11
,3

76
$

73
4

6.
45

%
20

.0
0

%
13

.5
5

%
20

14
$

10
,1

92
$

72
3

7.
09

%
20

.0
0

%
12

.9
1

%
  2

01
3 

2
$

9,
36

9
$

72
3

7.
72

%
20

.0
0

%
12

.2
8

%
N

ot
es

:

D
at

a 
So

ur
ce

:
 

 
 A

pp
lic

ab
le

 y
ea

rs
' c

om
pr

eh
en

siv
e 

an
nu

al
 fi

na
nc

ia
l r

ep
or

ts
 a

nd
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 lo

an
 d

oc
um

en
ta

tio
n.

T
ow

n 
of

 S
ou

th
w

es
t R

an
ch

es
, F

lo
ri

da

 1
 20

12
 is

 th
e 

ol
de

st
 d

at
a 

re
ad

ily
 a

va
ila

bl
e.

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

/M
ax

im
um

 A
dd

iti
on

al
 B

on
d 

Te
st

/*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*

 2
 20

13
 is

 th
e 

ol
de

st
 d

at
a 

re
ad

ily
 a

va
ila

bl
e.

D
eb

t S
er

vi
ce

 A
nt

i-D
ilu

tio
n 

C
ov

er
ag

es
 (U

na
ud

ite
d)

(A
m

ou
nt

s i
n 

th
ou

sa
nd

s)
Fi

sc
al

 Y
ea

rs
 2

02
0 ,

 2
01

9,
 2

01
8,

 2
01

7,
 2

01
6,

 2
01

5,
 2

01
4,

 2
01

3 
an

d 
20

12
1

**
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

/M
ax

im
um

 A
dd

iti
on

al
 B

on
d 

Te
st

/*
**

**
**

**
**

**
**

*

 
March 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

 
Page 100 of 156



74

Exhibit XVII

Estimated
Estimated Share of

Debt Percentage Underlying
Governmental Unit Outstanding Applicable 1 Debt

Overlapping Debt1, 2

Broward County $ 134,458,000 0.677890% $ 911,478
Broward County School Board 1,882,299,000 0.006828% 128,532

Sub-Total Overlapping Debt 1,040,010

Town Direct Debt 9,659,946

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt $ 10,699,956

Notes:

Data Source:
2  Each specific government.

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt (Unaudited)

 September 30, 2020

1 Applicable percentage was estimated by determining the portion of the Town's assessed value that is within the County's
geographic boundaries.
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Exhibit XVIII

(in $1,000) Per
Total Capita

Calendar Personal Personal State of United
Year Population 1 Income 2, 3 Income 4 County 3 Florida 5 States 6

2011 7,345           $ 66,797,269      $ 38,101       9.3% 10.6% 9.1%
2012 7,385           $ 78,687,882      $ 44,429       7.5% 8.1% 7.8%
2013 7,396           $ 80,525,783      $ 45,120       5.6% 6.7% 7.3%
2014 7,676           $ 80,905,552      $ 44,850       5.2% 6.0% 5.7%
2015 7,761           $ 85,167,498      $ 46,607       4.9% 5.3% 5.0%
2016 7,852           $ 86,987,787      $ 46,906       4.6% 5.0% 4.9%
2017 7,892           $ 91,224,860      $ 48,680       3.3% 3.8% 4.2%
2018 7,958           $ 95,409,356      $ 50,269       2.8% 3.5% 3.7%
2019 7,981           $ 102,145,579    $ 51,820       2.8% 3.2% 3.5%
2020 7,957           $ {i} $ {i} 7.8% 7.2% 7.9%

Notes:
There are no public schools located within the Town.

1  Florida Legislative Office of Economic and Demographic Research
   2020 per US Census Bureau.

3  Broward County comprehensive annual financial reports.
4  Broward County total personal income divided by the Broward County population.

6  U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics, http://data.bls.gov/cgi-bin/surveymost & US Census Quick Facts.
{i} Information not available from County

5  Real Estate Center, http://recenter.tamu.edu/data/emp/emps/st12.asp.

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Demographic and Economic Statistics (Unaudited)

Last Ten Calendar Years

Unemployment Rate

Data Sources: 

2  2010 and 2011 estimated by management.
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Exhibit XIX

Type of Number of
Employer Business Employees Rank

Lowe's Home Centers, Inc. Retail 165 1
Publix Supermarkets Retail 157 2
Archbishop McCarthy High School Private School 138 3
Romeus Cuban Restaurant Restaurant 40 4
McDonald's Restaurant 35 5
Starbucks Coffee Company Restaurant 27 6
Walgreens Retail 18 7
Original Pancake House Restaurant 16 8
Apple Montessori School Private School 15 9
R&R Garden Center Nursery 6 10

Total Principal Employers 617
    

Type of Number of
Employer Business Employees Rank

Lowe's Home Centers, Inc. Retail 125 1
Publix Supermarkets Retail 100 2
Archbishop McCarthy High School Private School 76 3
McDonald's Restaurant 70 4
Applebee's Neighborhood Grill Restaurant 46 5
Apple Montessori School Private School 45 6
Romeus Cuban Restaurant Restaurant 36 7
Original Pancake House Restaurant 28 8
Starbucks Coffee Company Restaurant 27 9
Walgreens Retail 18 10

Total Principal Employers 571

Data Source: 
 Town records.

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
Principal Employers (Unaudited) 

For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2020 and 2011 

2020

2011
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2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
Function/program

Town Commission 5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         5         

General Government:
Town management 5         5         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         3         
Community services 1 10       10       14       13       13       15       13       13       13       13       

Total General Government 15       15       17       16       16       18       16       16       16       16       

Contracted Employees:
General government,
 management services 4         4         4         4         4         4         4         4         4         4         
Fire rescue 43       43       50       50       44       44       46       46       50       50       
Emergency medical services 4         4         15       15       15       15       15       15       15       15       
Police protection 15       15       15       16       16       16       16       16       16       16       

Total Contracted Employees 66       66       84       85       79       79       81       81       85       85       

Total 86       86       106     106     100     102     102     102     106     106     

Percentage Change From
 Prior Year 41.0% 0.0% 23.3% 0.0% -5.7% 2.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.9% 0.0%

Notes:
1  Community services includes parks and recreation, community development, transportation, executive, clerk and finance departments.

Data Source:
 Town of Southwest Ranches Community Services and Finance Departments.

Exhibit XX
Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 

Town Full-Time Funded Positions by Function/Program (Unaudited)
Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Fiscal Year
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Function/Program 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

GENERAL GOVERNMENT:
 Building Permits Issued 2 433 422 403 407 377 531 566 636 609 625
  Broward County 2 N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A  N/A

Building Permits Closed 2 -         -         -         -         -         475 396 533 611 656
 Building Inspections Conducted:
 CAP Government Services Inc.: N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

Electrical 2 381 366 440 417 471 472 683 732 1087 1674
Fire 2 24 19 11 17 19 5 8 29 21 231
Mechanical 2 163 126 169 134 246 249 251 201 264 643
Plumbing 2 306 300 332 414 538 482 590 527 843 1618
Structural 2 1283 1457 1410 1526 1818 1624 1965 2282 2824 4425
Zoning 2 35 7 11 74 75 104 153 213 246 573
Other 2 13 2 3 28 24 20 39 109 83 332

  Total building inspections 2,205 2,277 2,376 2,610 3,191 2,956 3,689 4,093 5,368 9,496

Certificates of Use Registrations 3 35 23 11 14 2 4 17 1 20 14
Planning & Zoning Permits Issued 3 213 177 153 148 196 230 318 238 317 279

FIRE:
 Emergency Responses 4 403 437 685 747 791 912 789 799 648 546

Station 112 Average Response Time 4 -         -         5:58 6:13 5:52 5:10 5:17 5:57 6:42 7:19
Inspections 40 31 98 98 165 84 146 185 202 170

POLICE: 5

Physical arrests 132 77 54 43 43 33 29 33 43 38
Parking violations 2 -         2 -         -         -         3 -         -         71          
Traffic violations 3,025 1,225 1,011 2,174 2,416 1,773 1,369 1,673 1,824 1,568

REFUSE COLLECTION:  6

Residential SW- mo. avg in tons 10.89 26.45 287.54 262.29 258.71 257.34 344.16 261.58 257.77 282.79
Residential Recycling - mo. avg in tons 7.63 8.51 36.54 51.20 62.98 64.01 67.46 78.41 76.79 76.35
Residential Bulk - mo. avg in tons 78.90 70.11 593.63 698.53 790.07 719.54 1,283.00 707.96 687.68 736.01

OTHER PUBLIC WORKS: 6

Street resurfacing (in miles) -         0.95 -         -         -         2.28 -         2.95 -         -         
Potholes repaired 107 112 88 93 107 222 224 255 183 164

WATER: 7

New connections 1 1 -         1 3 4 3 10 5 3
Average daily consumption
 (thousands of gallons) 13.47 12.02 11.52 10.26 10.66 12.16 13.63 13.26 14.46 13.52
Peak monthly consumption
 (thousands of gallons) 556 440 419 428 417 420 483 502 526 485

General Government Tax Rates:
 Utility Services:

Electric 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%
Communication Services 5.22% 5.22% 5.22% 5.22% 5.22% 5.22% 5.22% 5.22% 5.22% 5.22%
Gas 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%

 Franchises:
Electric 5.90% 5.90% 5.90% 5.90% 5.90% 5.90% 5.90% 5.90% 5.90% 5.90%
Solid Waste (commercial) 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10% 10%
Towing 13% 13% 13% 13% 15% 15% 15% 15% 18% 18%

Notes:
1  Information not presented is not available.
2  Information provided by CAP Government Services Inc.
3  Information provided by Code Services Inc. for 2011-2018 and JA Medina LLC for thereafter.

   the Town of Davie 2010-2011. Information for 2012 provided by Pembroke Pines.  Information since 2013 provided by Town of Davie.
5  Information provided by Town of Davie (2014-Present) and BSO (2010-2013).

   for certain residents who have privately connected with the City of Sunrise or Cooper City.

Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida
Operating Statistics by Function/Program (Unaudited) 1

Last Ten Fiscal Years 

Exhibit XXI 

4 Information provided by Broward County Sheriff's Office for western portion of Town and information for the eastern portion of the Town not available from      

6  Information provided by Town Contractors.  2013 change from daily average to monthly pertaining to refuse collection.
7 Information provided by City of Sunrise and Cooper City Public Works. The Town's residents obtain their water supply from wells and septic tanks except  
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Function/Program 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

FIRE:              
Stations 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Vehicles owned 1 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3

POLICE:
Stations 1 -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      
Patrol units 15 15 15 16 16 16 16 16 16 16

OTHER PUBLIC WORKS:
Streets (miles) 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82 82
Streetlights 2 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13
Vehicles owned 1 -      -      -      -      -      2 2 2 2 2

PARKS AND RECREATION:
Acreage 149.01 149.01 149.01 149.01 149.01 149.01 149.01 149.01 149.01 149.01
Community Center -      -      -      -      1 1 1 1 1 1
Playgrounds 1 1 2 2 2 2 3 3 3 3
Equestrian ring 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Picnic pavilion 1 1 1 1 2 2 4 4 5 5
Restroom facilities 1 1 1 1 3 3 3 3 3 3
Nature trails (miles) 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 1.5 5 5 5 5 5
Multi-use trails (miles) 17.35 17.35 17.35 17.35 17.35 17.35 17.35 17.35 17.35 17.35
Vehicles owned 1 -      -      -      -      -      1 1 1 1 1

WATER:
Water mains (miles) 3 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Fire wells 285 285 285 286 286 286 286 284 284 291
Fire hydrants 4 -      -      -      -      -      -      95 95 95 117
Lakes (acres) 5 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0 25.0
Canals (miles) 6 42.0 42.0 42.0 42.0 42.0 42.0 42.0 42.0 42.0 42.0

Data Sources: 
Various Town departments unless otherwise noted.

Notes:   
1  Items not presented, provided by a contractor.
2  Only streetlights and traffic signals are on Griffin Road which is owned and maintained by Broward County.
3  Information provided by City of Sunrise Utilities Department.  Unable to determine how many miles of water mains have been added 
   since 2005.

5 Information provided by South Broward Drainage District.  Unable to obtain information from Central Broward Water Control District.
6  Information provided by South Broward Drainage District and Central Broward Water Control District.

4  Information provided by Town of Davie Fire Marshall.  Fire hydrants owned and maintained by City of Sunrise.

Exhibit XXII
Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 

Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program (Unaudited)
Last Ten Fiscal Years
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED 
IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
To the Honorable Mayor, Town Council and Town Administrator 
Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements 
of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida (the “Town”), as of and 
for the year ended September 30, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 
collectively comprise the Town’s basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon 
dated March 5, 2021. 
 
Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing the audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s 
internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or 
detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 
this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
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Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a 
direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on 
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not 
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other 
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Town’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control 
and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
KEEFE McCULLOUGH 
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, FL  
March 5, 2021 
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MANAGEMENT LETTER IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RULES OF THE AUDITOR 
GENERAL OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA 

 
 
To The Honorable Mayor, Town Council and Town Administrator 
Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the basic financial statements of the Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
(the “Town”), as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2020, and have issued our 
report thereon dated March 5, 2021. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and Chapter 10.550, Rules of 
the Auditor General. 
 
Other Reporting Requirements 
 
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and 
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards; and Independent Accountant’s Report on an 
examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, 
regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General. Disclosures in those reports, which are dated March 5, 2021, should be considered in 
conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding 
financial audit report. There were no findings and recommendations made in the preceding annual 
financial audit report. 
 
Official Title and Legal Authority 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)4., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that the name or official title and 
legal authority for the primary government and each component unit of the reporting entity be 
disclosed in this management letter, unless disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. This 
information is disclosed in Note 1 to the financial statements. 
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Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
 
 
Financial Condition and Management 
 
Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply appropriate 
procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether or not the Town has met one 
or more of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, and to identify the 
specific condition(s) met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the Town did not meet 
any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes. 
 
Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied 
financial condition assessment procedures for the Town. It is management’s responsibility to 
monitor the Town’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in part on 
representations made by management and review of financial information provided by same.  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any 
recommendations to improve financial management. In connection with our audit, we did not have any 
such recommendations. 
 
Additional Matters 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance 
with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to 
have occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but warrants 
the attention of those charged with governance. In connection with our audit, we did not note any 
such findings. 
 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, Federal and other granting agencies, Members of the Town Council, and 
applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other 
than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
 
KEEFE McCULLOUGH 
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, FL  
March 5, 2021 
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INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH  

SECTION 218.415, FLORIDA STATUTES 
 
 
To The Honorable Mayor, Town Council and Town Administrator 
Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida 
 
 
We have examined the Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida’s (the “ Town”) compliance with 
the requirements of Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies, during 
the year ended September 30, 2020. Management is responsible for the Town’s compliance with 
the specified requirements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Town’s compliance 
with the specified requirements based on our examination. 
 
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Town complied, in all 
material respects, with the specified requirements referenced above. An examination involves 
performing procedures to obtain evidence about whether the Town complied with the specified 
requirements. The nature, timing, and extent of the procedures selected depend on our judgment, 
including an assessment of the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error. 
We believe that the evidence we obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinion. 
 
Our examination does not provide a legal determination on the Town’s compliance with specified 
requirements. 
 
In our opinion, the Town complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned requirements 
for the year ended September 30, 2020. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of Members of the Town Council, 
management, and the State of Florida Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not be 
used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 
 
 
KEEFE McCULLOUGH 
 
 
Fort Lauderdale, FL  
March 5, 2021  
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Town of Southwest Ranches
13400 Griffin Road
Southwest Ranches, FL 33330-2628

(954) 434-0008 Town Hall
(954) 434-1490 Fax 

Town Council
Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor

Bob Hartmann, Vice Mayor
Jim Allbritton, Council Member

Gary Jablonski, Council Member
David Kuczenski, Council Member

 

 
Andrew D. Berns, MPA, Town Administrator

Keith M. Poliakoff, JD, Town Attorney
Russell Muniz, MPA, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk

Martin D. Sherwood, CPA, CGMA, CGFO,  Town Financial Administrator

COUNCIL MEMORANDUM
TO: Honorable Mayor Breitkreuz and Town Council
VIA: Andrew D. Berns, Town Administrator
FROM: Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney
DATE: 3/25/2021
SUBJECT: Vet Clinic Ordinance

Recommendation
Town Council consideration for a motion to approve the ordinance.  

Unanimous Vote of the Town Council Required?
No

Strategic Priorities
A. Sound Governance

Background
The adopted Town of Southwest Ranches Comprehensive Plan does not authorize principal
commercial land uses in the Rural Estate, Rural Ranches and Estate land use categories
(“Residential  Land Use Categories/Designations”).  A veterinary clinic, veterinary hospital and
commercial boarding and breeding kennel is a commercial land use.  Section 045-050 of the
ULDC allows veterinary clinics as a principal use in the A-1 and A-2 zoning districts, and
permits veterinary hospitals and commercial boarding and breeding kennels as principal uses
in the A-2 zoning district.  Nearly all properties zoned A-1 and A-2 within the Town have
Residential Land Use Designations.  Section 045-050 conflicts with the permitted uses in the
Residential Land Use Categories of the adopted Comprehensive Plan to the extent that
Section 045-050 permits veterinary clinics, veterinary hospitals and commercial boarding and
breeding kennels; 
 
Pursuant to Florida law, the adopted comprehensive plan controls in the event of conflict with
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the implementing land development regulations.  Therefore the Town Council wishes to bring
the conflicting ULDC provision into compliance with the adopted Comprehensive Plan.
 

Fiscal Impact/Analysis
N/A.

Staff Contact:
Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Upload Date Type
Veterinary Clinic Ordinance 3/1/2021 Ordinance
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Ordinance No. 2021-__ 
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Page 1 of 6 

ORDINANCE NO. 2021-XXX 1 

 2 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, 3 

FLORIDA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES 4 

UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (“ULDC”), ARTICLE 10, 5 

ENTITLED, “DEFINITION OF TERMS” TO DEFINE THE TERMS, 6 

“VETERINARY CLINIC” AND “MOBILE SERVICES UNIT;” 7 

AMENDING ARTICLE 45 ENTITLED, “AGRICULTURAL AND RURAL 8 

DISTRICTS,” SECTION 045-050 “PERMITTED AND PROHIBITED 9 

USES” TO PROHIBIT VETERINARY CLINICS, VETERINARY 10 

HOSPITALS AND COMMERCIAL BOARDING AND BREEDING 11 

KENNELS AS PRINCIPAL USES IN THE A-1 and A-2 ZONING 12 

DISTRICTS; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR 13 

CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND, PROVIDING 14 

FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 15 

 16 

WHEREAS, the adopted Town of Southwest Ranches Comprehensive Plan does 17 

not authorize principal commercial land uses in the Rural Estate, Rural Ranches and Estate 18 

land use categories (“Residential  Land Use Categories/Designations”); and 19 

WHEREAS, a veterinary clinic, veterinary hospital and commercial boarding and 20 

breeding kennel is a commercial land use; and  21 

WHEREAS, Section 045-050 of the ULDC allows veterinary clinics as a principal 22 

use in the A-1 and A-2 zoning districts, and permits veterinary hospitals and commercial 23 

boarding and breeding kennels as principal uses in the A-2 zoning district; and 24 

WHEREAS, nearly all properties zoned A-1 and A-2 within the Town have 25 

Residential Land Use Designations; and 26 

WHEREAS, Section 045-050 conflicts with the permitted uses in the Residential 27 

Land Use Categories of the adopted Comprehensive Plan to the extent that Section 045-28 
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Ordinance No. 2021-__ 
New text is underlined and deleted text is stricken  
 

Page 2 of 6 

050 permits veterinary clinics, veterinary hospitals and commercial boarding and breeding 1 

kennels; and 2 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Florida law, the adopted comprehensive plan controls in 3 

the event of conflict with the implementing land development regulations; and  4 

WHEREAS, the Town Council wishes to bring the conflicting ULDC provision into 5 

compliance with the adopted Comprehensive Plan. 6 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 7 

TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA: 8 

Section 1.  Ratification. The foregoing "WHEREAS" clauses are hereby ratified 9 

and confirmed as being true and correct, and are hereby incorporated herein and made 10 

a part hereof. 11 

Section 2.  Amendment to Definitions. Article 10, “Definition of Terms” is 12 

hereby amended as follows: 13 

*    *    * 14 

Mobile home. The term "mobile home" has the same meaning given in F.S. § 15 

320.01. 16 

Mobile services unit. The term, “mobile services unit” means a van, truck, other 17 

motor vehicle, or motor vehicle-trailer combination with equipment and facilities 18 

to provide on-location personal services or animal care services for residential 19 

customers as an alternative to the customer traveling to a fixed business location 20 

for such services. Examples include, but are not limited to, shoe repair, hair styling, 21 

veterinary care and dog grooming. A mobile services unit only provides services 22 

while parked on the premises of the customer who is receiving the services, and 23 

never offers services at any other location within the Town, including the premises 24 

of its owner, operator or overnight parking location. As an itinerant service, a 25 

mobile services unit is not a land use for the purpose of regulation under this 26 

chapter. 27 

 28 
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Modeling and lingerie studio. The term "modeling and lingerie studio" means an 1 

establishment that offers persons the opportunity to view or photograph 2 

models who are clothed in lingerie, or which offers encounter sessions with 3 

models who are clothed in lingerie. 4 

*    *    *  5 

Vehicular use area. The term "vehicular use area" means parking facilities, 6 

driveways, and any area designed or used for vehicular circulation, parking, 7 

loading, stacking or storage. 8 

 9 

Veterinary clinic. The term, “veterinary clinic” means a facility that provides, 10 

medical or dental treatment and care for animals.  A veterinary clinic is not a 11 

mobile services unit.  12 

Water management area. The term "water management area" means a portion 13 

of a development that is a functional part of the "surface water management 14 

system" and is designed for the normal impoundment, storage, or conveyance 15 

of surface water or stormwater. 16 

*    *    *  17 

Section 3. Amendment to Permitted Uses Table. Article 45, Agricultural 18 

and Rural Districts, Section 045-050 is hereby amended as follows: 19 

Sec. 045-050. - Permitted and prohibited uses.  20 

Plots in rural and agricultural districts may be used for one (1) or more of 21 

the uses that are specified below as being permitted or conditionally permitted 22 

uses:  23 

Key to abbreviations:  

P=Permitted use  NP=Not permitted  C=Conditional use  

  24 

 25 

Permitted Principal Uses  A-1  A-2  RE  RR  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  0.5"

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

 
March 25, 2021 Regular Meeting

 
Page 121 of 156



 
Ordinance No. 2021-__ 
New text is underlined and deleted text is stricken  
 

Page 4 of 6 

One single-family detached dwelling on a lot of record  P  P  P  P  

Nonprofit neighborhood social and recreational facilities  P  P  P  P  

Cemetery (subject to section 045-030(U))  P  NP  NP  NP  

Community residential facilities  

 (subject to section 045-030(S))  
P  P  P  P  

Crop raising and plant nurseries (commercial and  

 noncommercial, subject to section 045-030(J))  
P  P  P  P  

Essential services (subject to section 045-030(K))  P  P  P  P  

Fish breeding (commercial and noncommercial)  P  P  P  P  

Keeping, breeding of animals  

 (subject to section 045-030(F))  
P  P  P  P  

Commercial equestrian operations  P  P  P  P  

Veterinary clinics; (no overnight stay or animal runs)  NP  NP  NP  NP  

Veterinary hospitals  NP  NP  NP  NP  

Kennels, commercial boarding and breeding  NP  NP  NP  NP  

Cannabis-related uses  NP  NP  NP  NP  

Wireless communication facilities (subject to article  

 40, "Telecommunication Towers and Antennas.")  
P  P  P  P  

     

Permitted accessory uses to a single-family dwelling     

Detached guesthouse (subject to section 045-030(G))  P  P  P  P  
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Exhibition of Class I and Class II wildlife  

 (subject to section 035-070 pertaining to conditional uses)  
C  C  NP  C  

Keeping, breeding of animals  

 (subject to section 045-030(F))  
P  P  P  P  

Yard sales (subject to section 035-060  

 pertaining to conditional uses)  
C  C  C  C  

Home offices (subject to section 035-030  

 pertaining to conditional uses)  
C  C  C  C  

Family day care homes  P  P  P  P  

Cannabis-related uses  NP  NP  NP  NP  

Accessory structures and uses, other  P  P  P  P  

 1 

Section 4:  Codification.  The Town Clerk shall cause this ordinance to be 2 

codified as a part of the ULDC during the next codification update cycle. 3 

Section 5: Conflicts.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, Resolutions or parts 4 

of Resolutions in conflict herewith, be and the same are hereby repealed to the extent of 5 

such conflict.   6 

Section 6:  Severability.  Should any section or provision of this Ordinance or 7 

any portion thereof, any paragraph, sentence or word hereof be declared unconstitutional 8 

or invalid, the invalidity thereof shall not affect the validity of any of the remaining 9 

portions of this Ordinance.    10 

Section 7:  Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect immediately upon 11 

passage and adoption. 12 

PASSED ON FIRST READING  this ___ day of _______, 2021 on a motion made  13 

by ____________________ and seconded by ______________________. 14 
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PASSED AND ADOPTED ON SECOND READING this ____ day of _______,  1 

2021, on a motion made by _______      ___________ and seconded by  2 

__             _____ ___________. 3 

 4 

Breitkreuz    ______   Ayes  _______ 5 

Hartmann    ______   Nays  _______ 6 

Allbritton      Absent  _______ 7 

Jablonski    ______   Abstaining _______ 8 

Kuczenski  ______    9 

 10 

 11 

 12 

        ___________________________ 13 

         Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor 14 

ATTEST:  15 

 16 

 17 

____________________________________________________  18 

Russell Muñiz, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk 19 

 20 

Approved as to Form and Correctness: 21 

 22 

 23 

______________________________ 24 

Keith Poliakoff, J.D., Town Attorney 25 

38072992.1 26 

 27 
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Town of Southwest Ranches
13400 Griffin Road
Southwest Ranches, FL 33330-2628

(954) 434-0008 Town Hall
(954) 434-1490 Fax 

Town Council
Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor

Bob Hartmann, Vice Mayor
Jim Allbritton, Council Member

Gary Jablonski, Council Member
David Kuczenski, Council Member

 

 
Andrew D. Berns, MPA, Town Administrator

Keith M. Poliakoff, JD, Town Attorney
Russell Muniz, MPA, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk

Martin D. Sherwood, CPA, CGMA, CGFO,  Town Financial Administrator

COUNCIL MEMORANDUM
TO: Honorable Mayor Breitkreuz and Town Council
VIA: Andrew D. Berns, Town Administrator
FROM: Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney
DATE: 3/25/2021
SUBJECT: Perez MIW

Recommendation
Town Council consideration for a motion to approve the resolution.  

Unanimous Vote of the Town Council Required?
No

Strategic Priorities
A. Sound Governance

Background

Fiscal Impact/Analysis
None.  

Staff Contact:
Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Upload Date Type
Perez MIW - TA Approved 3/11/2021 Resolution
Perez MIW Agreement - Executed 3/11/2021 Agreement
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-___ 
 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, APPROVING A SETTLEMENT 
AGREEMENT WITH CARLOS AND CINDY PEREZ RELATING TO THE 

CONSTRUCTION OF A FENCE AND WALL LOCATED WITHIN THE 

TOWN’S RIGHT OF WAY (QUIET TITLE CASE NO. CACE 19-
004382); AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR, 

AND TOWN ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS 

NECESSARY TO EFFECTUATE THE INTENT OF THIS RESOLUTION; 
AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 

WHEREAS, Carlos & Cindy Perez, (“Perez”) own property located at 13750 E. 
Palomino Drive, Southwest Ranches, Florida 33330; and   

 

WHEREAS, Town owns, in fee simple, the tract of real estate adjacent to and 
abutting the Perez Tract (“right of way”).  This tract includes an improved right of way 
approximately 60 feet wide directly adjacent to the south of the Perez Tract; and 
 

 WHEREAS, Perez, confirms that the Town’s right of way, adjacent to its southern 
property line, was properly dedicated and is rightfully the property of the Town; and   

 

 WHEREAS, Perez confirms that a fence and wall was constructed on the Town’s 
right of way; and   
 

 WHEREAS, as it relates to Owner’s fence and wall, the Town has agreed to grant 
Owner a license to allow Owner to keep it within its current location, until such time as 
the fence and wall is repaired beyond fifty percent (50%) of its value or replaced, 
provided that Owner abides by the terms and conditions contained within the License, 
Maintenance, Indemnification and Work Agreement (“MIW”) Agreement, attached hereto 
as Exhibit “A”, and incorporated herein by reference; and 
 

WHEREAS, as it relates to Owner’s fence and wall, in the event the Town desires 
to remove the fence and wall, the Town agrees to reimburse Perez the average value of 
the fence and wall based upon its condition at the time of demolition.  The average value 
of the fence and wall shall be determined by taking the average of three (3) quotes 
obtained by the Owner and submitted to the Town; and 
 

 WHEREAS, Owner agrees to an entry of an Order in the Quiet Title action filed 
by the Town, confirming the information delineated above; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties have agreed that it is in their best interest to settle the 
Quiet Title action, pursuant to the terms of the MIW Agreement.    
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NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE  
TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA: 

 

Section 1.  That the foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are hereby ratified and 
confirmed as being true and correct and are hereby made a specific part of this 
Resolution. 

Section 2. That the Town Council hereby approves the MIW Agreement with 
Carlos and Cindy Perez, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit 
“A”, resolving with prejudice Circuit Court case CACE 19-004382.  

 
Section 3. The Mayor, Town Administrator and Town Attorney are each 

authorized to execute any and all documents necessary to effectuate the intent of this 
Resolution. 

Section 4. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon adoption. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

[Signatures on Following Page] 
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PASSED by the Town Council of the Town of Southwest Ranches, Florida, this  

 

___th day of March, 2021, on a motion by _________                 ____________  

 

and seconded by  .   

 

 

Breitkreuz   Ayes  
Hartmann    Nays  

Allbritton   Absent  
Jablonski   Abstaining   
Kuczenski     

  

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
   

_____________________________ 
  Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:   
 
______________________________________________ 
Russell Muniz, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form and Correctness: 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney 
38118413.1 
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Town of Southwest Ranches
13400 Griffin Road
Southwest Ranches, FL 33330-2628

(954) 434-0008 Town Hall
(954) 434-1490 Fax 

Town Council
Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor

Bob Hartmann, Vice Mayor
Jim Allbritton, Council Member

Gary Jablonski, Council Member
David Kuczenski, Council Member

 

 
Andrew D. Berns, MPA, Town Administrator

Keith M. Poliakoff, JD, Town Attorney
Russell Muniz, MPA, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk

Martin D. Sherwood, CPA, CGMA, CGFO,  Town Financial Administrator

COUNCIL MEMORANDUM
TO: Honorable Mayor Breitkreuz and Town Council
VIA: Andrew D. Berns, Town Administrator
FROM: Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney
DATE: 3/25/2021
SUBJECT: ZIP - Residential Subdivisions

Recommendation
Town Council consideration for a motion to approve the resolution.  

Unanimous Vote of the Town Council Required?
No

Strategic Priorities
A. Sound Governance

Background
Subdivision of existing tracts that are encumbered by powerline transmission easements or
substantial on-lot stormwater retention areas often result in residential lots with limited or no
capacity to accommodate equestrian and agricultural pursuits consistent with the Town’s
founding principles.  As a result, the Town is now forced to enact guidelines to regulate
subdivision in order to ensure that development is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive
Plan. 
 
In order to give the Town the necessary time to fully examine this matter, a zoning in progress
not to exceed 6 months is necessary.    
 

Fiscal Impact/Analysis
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None. 

Staff Contact:
Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney

ATTACHMENTS:
Description Upload Date Type
Zoning in Progress - Residential Subdivisions 3/17/2021 Resolution
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RESOLUTION NO. 2021-  

  

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 

SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, ENACTING A ZONING IN 

PROGRESS, PURSUANT TO SECTION 005-240 OF THE 

TOWN’S UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE, TO FURTHER 

REGULATE ANY SUBDIVISION OF LAND ENCUMBERED BY A 

POWERLINE TRANSMISSION EASEMENT, OR THAT RESULTS 

IN A LOT OF LESS THAN 39,200 SQF. OF NET LOT AREA 

EXCLUSIVE OF DESIGNATED STORMWATER RETENTION 

AREA, LOCATED WITHIN THE RURAL ESTATES ZONING 

DISTRICT; ENACTING A ZONING IN PROGRESS FOR A 

PERIOD OF TIME NOT TO EXCEED SIX (6) MONTHS OR UNTIL 

THE TOWN’S REVISED REGULATIONS HAVE BEEN ADOPTED, 

WHICHEVER IS SOONER; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT; 

PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN 

EFFECTIVE DATE. 
  

WHEREAS, the Town was founded to preserve its rural character; and   
  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Town’s adopted Comprehensive Plan, “The Vision 
of the Town of Southwest Ranches is to enhance and preserve the unique rural 
character of its community. The Town shall promote, maintain and protect its 
agricultural, residential and equestrian lifestyles, sensitive to the natural 
environment.” 

WHEREAS, subdivision of existing tracts that are encumbered by powerline 
transmission easements or substantial on-lot stormwater retention areas often 
result in residential lots with limited or no capacity to accommodate equestrian and 
agricultural pursuits consistent with the Town’s founding principles; and  

  

WHEREAS, as a result, the Town is now forced to enact guidelines to 
regulate subdivision in order to ensure that development is consistent with the 
adopted Comprehensive Plan; and   

  

WHEREAS, in order to give the Town the necessary time to fully examine 
this matter, a zoning in progress is necessary;   

  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE 

TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA:  
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Section 1. Recitals. That the foregoing “WHEREAS” clauses are hereby 
ratified and confirmed as being true and correct and are hereby made a specific 
part of this Resolution.  

 

  

Section 2.  That in furtherance of Section 005-240 of the Town’s Unified 
Land Development Code (“ULDC”), the Town Council hereby establishes a zoning 
in progress to further regulate land subdivision;. 

Section 3.  The Town shall prohibit the subdivision of land encumbered by 
a powerline transmission easement, or that results in a lot of less than 39,200 sqf. 
of net lot area exclusive of designated stormwater retention area, located within 
the rural estates zoning district as of the effective date of this Resolution until this 
zoning in progress has been terminated. 

Section 4.  This zoning in progress shall place a temporary hold on the 
approval of any plat, waiver of plat and site plan for land described in Section 3 for 
a period of time not to exceed six (6) months or until the Town’s revised regulations 
have been adopted, whichever is sooner.   

Section 5.  Conflicts.  All Ordinances or parts of Ordinances, Resolutions, 
or parts of Resolutions in conflict herewith, be and the same are hereby repealed 
to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 6.  Severability.  If any clause, section or other part of this 
Resolution shall be held by any court of competent jurisdiction to be 
unconstitutional or invalid, such unconstitutional or invalid part shall be considered 
as eliminated and in no way affecting the validity of the other provisions of this 
Resolution. 

Section 7. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective 
immediately upon its passage and adoption.   

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signatures on Following Page] 
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PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Town Council of the Town of Southwest  
 
Ranches, Florida, this ___ day of____, 2021 on a motion by  
 
___________________ and seconded by  ___________________________.  

  

Breitkreuz     ____      Ayes   ______  
Hartmann  ____      Nays   ______  
Allbritton ____      Absent    ______  
Jablonski ____      Abstaining  ______  
Kuczenski  ____                  

 
 
            ___________________________  
 
ATTEST:  

    
 
 

         Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor  

 
______________________________________________   
Russell Muñiz, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk  
   

 

Approved as to Form and Correctness:  
 
 
______________________________ 
Keith Poliakoff, J.D., Town Attorney 

          38236702.1 
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REGULAR MEETING MINUTES OF THE TOWN COUNCIL 
Southwest Ranches, Florida 

 
Thursday 7:00 PM                    February 11, 2021                       13400 Griffin Road 
Present:                                                                         
Mayor Steve Breitkreuz      Andrew Berns, Town Administrator 
Vice Mayor Bob Hartmann            Russell Muñiz, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk 
Council Member Jim Allbritton                  Martin D. Sherwood, Town Financial Administrator 
Council Member Gary Jablonski                       Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney 
Council Member David Kuczenski 
                  
Regular Meeting of the Town Council of Southwest Ranches was held virtually via the ZOOM 
Meeting Platform. The meeting, having been properly noticed, was called to order by Mayor McKay 
at 7:05 PM. Attendance was noted by roll call and was followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
Quasi-Judicial Hearings 
3. Waiver of Plat No. WP-26-20 
A RESOLUTION AND FINAL ORDER OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST 
RANCHES, FLORIDA, APPROVING WAIVER OF PLAT APPLICATION NO. WP-26-20 TO SUBDIVIDE 
4.78 NET ACRES OF PROPERTY INTO TWO LOTS OF 2.0 AND 2.78 ACRES; GENERALLY LOCATED 
ON THE WEST SIDE OF HOLATEE TRAIL APPROXIMATELY 2,000 FEET SOUTH OF PALOMINO 
DRIVE; LEGALLY DESCRIBED AS THE NORTH HALF OF TRACT 8 LESS THE EAST 20 FEET, 
EVERGLADE SUGAR AND LAND CO. SUBDIVISION OF SECTION 34, TOWNSHIP 50 SOUTH, 
RANGE 40 EAST, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 1, PAGE 152 
OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA; SAID LANDS LYING AND BEING 
IN BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR, AND 
TOWN ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO PROPERLY TO 
EFFECTUATE THE INTENT OF THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR RECORDATION; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Poliakoff went over the rules of the Quasi-Judicial procedure. Assistant Town 
Administrator/Town Clerk Muñiz administered an oath swearing in anyone who wishes to speak 
on the item and then read the item into the record. Town Attorney Poliakoff inquired if the 
petitioner or their agent was in attendance, to which Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk 
Muñiz advised there was. The petitioner confirmed she was sworn in and she read the staff report 
and agreed with the conditions contained within the staff report. Assistant Town Planner Katims 
read the staff report into the record. Council Member Kuczenski asked if the driveway will be a 
private road and Assistant Town Planner Katims advised it is strictly a driveway. Town Attorney 
Poliakoff clarified that each property has their own access and then asked the petitioner’s agent 
if she had any comments, which she did not. Town Attorney Poliakoff inquired if the Town Council 
has had any ex-parte communications with the public concerning the matter. Council Member’s 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Allbritton, Vice Mayor Hartmann and Mayor Breitkreuz all received emails 
regarding the item and the residents were against the item. The item was then opened to the 
public for comment. Public comment was closed and Town Attorney Poliakoff inquired if Assistant 
Town Planner Katims or the petitioner had any comments, to which they did not. The item was 
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then turned over to the Town Council for deliberation. Mayor Breitkreuz agreed with the public 
regarding their comments, however the Town Council must follow the law and the item before 
them does comply.  Council Member Allbritton and Vice Mayor Hartmann wanted to clarify the 
2.5-acre rule for the public. Assistant Town Planner Katims explained the rule for the public. Mayor 
Breitkreuz opened the floor for public comment again since residents were having trouble 
connecting to the meeting. Robin Ditzian, Carolyn Ditzian, Jim Laskey, Patricia Wareham and 
Dwight Benjamin spoke. The public comment section was closed. Mayor Breitkreuz spoke on one 
of the public comments regarding water runoff from the development to the older property, 
because the berm had not been in place yet. This is concerning to him because it floods the lower 
properties. Assistant Town Planner Katims state the berm must be in place before the house is 
issued a certificate of occupancy. Town Administrator Berns suggested to the Town Council if they 
want, they can request the berm be constructed sooner rather than later. Town Attorney Poliakoff 
stated they could make constructing the berm a condition of approval. 
 
The following motion was made by Vice Mayor Hartmann, seconded by Council Member Kuczenski 
and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION:  TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS; 
PETITIONER TO CONSTRUCT A BERM BY JUNE 1ST, 2021 PRIOR TO HOMES BEING 
BUILT TO MITIGATE ANY WATER RUNOFF OR  IMPACT TO EXISTING PROPERTIES.   
 
4. Waiver of Plat No. WP-27-20 
A RESOLUTION AND FINAL ORDER OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST 
RANCHES, FLORIDA, APPROVING WAIVER OF PLAT APPLICATION NO. WP-27-20 TO SUBDIVIDE 
4.42 NET ACRES OF PROPERTY INTO TWO LOTS OF 2.0 AND 2.42 ACRES; GENERALLY LOCATED 
AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE MUSTANG AND APPALOOSA TRAILS INTERSECTION 
LEGALLY DESCRIBED AS THE SOUTH HALF OF TRACT 37, LESS THE SOUTH 40 FEET AND LESS 
THE EAST 20 FEET THEREOF, SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 51 SOUTH, RANGE 40 EAST OF THE 
EVERGLADES SUGAR AND LAND CO. SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF 
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 39 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA, 
SAID LANDS LYING AND BEING SITUATE IN BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AUTHORIZING THE 
MAYOR, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR AND TOWN ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL 
DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO PROPERLY EFFECTUATE THE INTENT OF THIS RESOLUTION; 
PROVIDING FOR RECORDATION; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Council Member 
Kuczenski and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION:  TO TABLE RESOLUTION TO THE FEBRUARY 25, 2021 TOWN COUNCIL 
MEETING. 
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5. Waiver of Plat WP-28-20 
A RESOLUTION AND FINAL ORDER OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST 
RANCHES, FLORIDA, APPROVING WAIVER OF PLAT APPLICATION NO. WP-28-20 TO SUBDIVIDE 
4.0 NET ACRES OF PROPERTY INTO TWO LOTS OF 2.0 ACRES EACH; GENERALLY LOCATED 
SOUTH OF STIRLING ROAD ON THE WEST SIDE OF STALLION WAY AND GENERALLY DESCRIBED 
AS LOT 2 AND A PORTION OF LOT 3 OF LANDMARK AT STERLING RANCHES, ACCORDING TO 
THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 170, PAGE 14 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF 
BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR AND TOWN 
ATTORNEY TO PROPERLY EFFECTUATE THE INTENT OF THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR 
RECORDATION; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Poliakoff went over the rules of the Quasi-Judicial procedure. Assistant Town 
Administrator/Town Clerk Muñiz administered an oath swearing in anyone who wishes to speak 
on the item and then read the item into the record. Town Attorney Poliakoff inquired if the 
petitioner or their agent was in attendance, to which Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk 
Muñiz advised there was. The petitioner confirmed she was sworn in and she read the staff report 
and agreed with the conditions contained within the staff report. Assistant Town Planner Katims 
read the staff report into the record. Town Attorney Poliakoff asked the petitioner if she had any 
questions, which she did not. Town Attorney Poliakoff then asked if the Town Council had any 
questions. Council Member Jablonski asked Assistant Town Planner if the area can be gated to 
which the answer was no. Council Member Kuczenski asked if lot#3 is built out to not allow any 
additional construction. Assistant Town Planner Katims stated there is very little space to allow 
anything other than maybe a small outbuilding or an addition. Council Member Allbritton asked 
about the 16 feet taken from lot#3 and was it platted incorrectly?  Assistant Town Planner Katims 
clarified the 16 feet does not play into the item the Town Council is approving. If the item is 
meeting all the requirements the item can be approved. Council Member Allbritton asked the 
petitioner why was it done with being approved? The petitioner didn’t have an answer, only to 
say the property owner is trying to be in compliance at present. Town Attorney Poliakoff then 
inquired if the Town Council has had any ex-parte communications with the public concerning the 
matter. Council Member Kuczenski stated he had, and the resident was against the item. The item 
was then opened to the public. Newell Hollingsworth, Jim Laskey (who needed to be sworn in) 
spoke and then public comment was closed. Mayor Breitkreuz asked Assistant Town Planner 
Katims, how much leeway does the property have before it becomes non-conforming to which 
Assistant Town Planner Katims advised there is none. Council Member Jablonski asked weren’t 
properties were supposed to be in compliance before they come in from of the Town Council and 
Assistant Town Planner Katims stated yes. He then clarified the property owner is trying to rectify 
the issue to bring it into compliance. Council Member Jablonski was not happy with the answer. 
He would like it to be tabled. Council Member Allbritton thinks this is should be rectified before it 
comes before them. Council Member Kuczenski agree with the concerns of Council Member 
Jablonski and Council Member Allbritton and he is deeply concerned. Mayor Breitkreuz is less than 
comfortable with the item and he has no problem tabling the item. Council Member Jablonski 
made a motion to table the item. Town Attorney Poliakoff asked for a time and date certain to be 
in compliance and come back to the Town Council for consideration. Council Member Jablonski 
would like to table it to May and suggest the owner be present. Vice Mayor Hartmann asked what 
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the Town Council is looking to do and Mayor Breitkreuz explained they were giving the owner 
time to come into compliance and try to explain why this was done the way it was. 
 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Council Member 
Kuczenski and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION: TO TABLE RESOLUTION TO ALLOW PETITIONER TO COME INTO 
COMPLIANCE BY MAY 13, 2021 AND THE OWNER BE PRESENT AT THE MEETING. 
 
6. Plat Note Amendment Application No. DG-24-20 
A RESOLUTION AND FINAL ORDER OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST 
RANCHES, FL, APPROVING PLAT NOTE AMENDMENT APPLICATION NO. DG-24-20 TO INCREASE 
THE NUMBER OF SINGLE FAMILY RESIDENCES AUTHORIZED ON THE  FACE OF THE LANDMARK 
AT STERLING RANCHES PLAT IN ASSOCIATION WITH WAIVER OF PLAT APPLICATION NO. WP-
28-20; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR AND TOWN ATTORNEY TO 
EXECUTE ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO PROPERLY EFFECTUATE THE INTENT OF 
THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR RECORDATION; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
Town Attorney Poliakoff went over the rules of the Quasi-Judicial procedure. Assistant Town 
Administrator/Town Clerk Muñiz administered an oath swearing in anyone who wishes to speak 
on the item and then read the item into the record. Town Attorney Poliakoff inquired if the 
petitioner or their agent was in attendance and Assistant Town Planner Katims clarified this item 
was a companion item to the previously tabled item. Town Attorney Poliakoff advised this item 
didn’t need to be opened and the Town Council made a motion to table to the May meeting as 
well. The petitioner stated the applicant made the purchase in good faith and wanted to make 
sure it was in compliance. The applicant was unaware they had to ask for permission to 
incorporate the strip of land to bring the property into compliance. She stated she will have the 
applicant present at the May Town Council meeting. 
 
The following motion was made by Vice Mayor Hartmann, seconded by Council Member Jablonski 
and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION: TO TABLE RESOLUTION TO ALLOW PETITIONER TO COME INTO 
COMPLIANCE BY MAY 13, 2021 AND OWNER BE PRESENT AT THE MEETING. 
 
7. Public Comment 
The following members of the public addressed the Town Council: Jim Laskey. 
 
8. Board Reports 
George Morris spoke on behalf of the Drainage and Infrastructure Advisory Board. He provided a 
summary on the items discussed during their monthly meeting, such as a new residential project, 
providing drainage relief on SW 64th Street, fill removal penalties for work done without a permit 
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and potential asphalt work to be done on 188th Avenue. He also mentioned the upcoming 
workshop to held prior to the Town Council meeting at 6:00PM February 25, 2021. 
 
Debbie Green spoke on behalf of the Schools and Education Advisory Board to inform the Town 
Council on the fundraising challenges this year in the wake of the pandemic. She spoke of the 
Flamingo Flocking Fundraiser the Board came up with and it has been a big hit with the residents. 
   
9. Council Member Comments 
Vice Mayor Hartmann thanked the Town Council for allowing him the extended time to speak at 
the January 28th, 2021 Town Council Meeting. He spoke of the history between himself and Mayor 
Breitkreuz and mentioned he is the Council Liaison for Comprehensive Plan Advisory Board (CPAB) 
and Mayor Breitkreuz is the Council Liaison for the Drainage and Infrastructure Advisory Board 
(DIAB). Vice Mayor Hartmann then proposed he and Mayor Breitkreuz then swap Boards to which 
Mayor Breitkreuz agreed. 
 
Council Member Jablonski spoke about the new Mailbox in front of Town Hall and he thanked 
Emily Aceti for persistence in making it happen. He next spoke about the free mulch giveaway 
happening at the Southwest Meadows Sanctuary Park. He mentioned that Town Hall will be closed 
on February 15th for President’s Day. Council Member Jablonski then mentioned he got flocked 
and thinks it’s a wonderful fundraising idea. Next he thanked Council Member Allbritton for the 
street signs he purchased on his own and what a nifty idea it was. He then spoke about the traffic 
issues and it was brought to his attention when driving at night, it is so dark that drivers cannot 
see horses or pedestrians and maybe they should have something reflective on their saddles or 
clothing. 
 
Council Member Allbritton spoke about the signs he bought. He distributed them throughout 
Sunshine Ranches, Green Meadows and Rolling Oaks to see how they would take off and he 
started to get calls and emails requesting more signs. He ordered more signs and they had arrived, 
and he will reach out to the residents who requested them.  He just wanted the traffic to slow 
down. Council Member Allbritton spoke on the new radar gun that was approved and he is excited 
for the traffic to get under control. He also said the Flamingos are also slowing the drivers down 
as they notice them. He had a report in his mailbox that outlines what the Town accomplished in 
2020 and he was amazed. Council Member Allbritton thanked the Town Staff for all they do to 
accomplish all the tasks needed to keep the Town running. 
 
Council Member Kuczenski spoke about the previous Quasi-Judicial Items regarding the berms. 
He thinks that maybe the during the earlier stages on new lot homes, berms need to be 
constructed so as not to affect the older homes. Next he spoke about a builder’s acre, which he 
is not fond off and he is wondering if anywhere in the Town’s Code there is a definition of an acre  
and if there is not, maybe look into creating a definition for that. He’d like to see the Mayor’s 
ordinance on density of adjoining properties come before Council very soon. Council Member 
Kuczenski next spoke about Advisory Board Attendance and the discussion of three missed 
meetings would result in removal from the Board. Lastly, Council Member Kuczenski spoke about 
a speeding black Audi that passed him the previous night and that he reported the license plate 
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to Detective Jeff Hobales. Council member Kuczenski is appalled at all the late-night speeding 
drivers that pass thorough Southwest Ranches.  
 
Mayor Breitkreuz followed up on Council Member Kuczenski comments regarding the berm. He 
stated it is controlled by the local Drainage Districts and they will be attending the February 25th  
Town Council Meeting. Mayor Breitkreuz thinks that would be a great item to speak to them about. 
Mayor Breitkreuz also spoke about the Town’s new mailbox and how excited he is about it. He 
also encouraged the residents to use the new mailbox to drop their mail, especially considering 
all the mail thefts happening in the Town. Mayor Breitkreuz also mentioned the free mulch 
available to the residents and lastly, he advised the Town is working diligently on the new fire fee. 
 
10. Legal Comments 
Town Attorney Poliakoff spoke on the Mayor’s item they drafted together concerning the change 
in zoning is before the Comprehensives Plan Board and as soon as it is done the item will go 
before the Town Council for consideration. Town Attorney Poliakoff also gave an update on the 
Morales case. The case was supposed to be heard by emergency injunction today by the court, 
however due to an illness of Mr. Morales’ counsel, the court agreed to allow them to bring in 
additional counsel to assist with the matter and has ordered mediation prior to the March 16th 
hearing and has also made it clear that if the case does not get resolved at mediation the court 
expects the mobile clinic to be moved. Town Attorney Poliakoff thinks the Town will get resolution 
sooner rather than later. Next Town Attorney Poliakoff sent the Town Council an ordinance that 
is required by the South Florida Water Management District. This is just to give the residents a 
heads up the South Florida Water Management District is requiring every municipality to pass a 
model form ordinance in dealing with irrigation for water conservation and the environment. Since 
most of the Town is using wells, Town Attorney Poliakoff put some modifications in the ordinance 
and he hopes South Florida Water Management District approves the modification. 
 
11. Administration Comments 
Town Administrator Berns thanked everyone for addressing his issues and he had nothing else to 
add. 
 
Ordinance – 2nd Reading 
12. AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
TEXT OF THE FUTURE LAND USE ELEMENT OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN, PERTAINING TO THE US HIGHWAY 27 BUSINESS LAND USE CATEGORY; 
PROVIDING FOR TRANSMITTAL TO HE STATE LAND PLANNING AGENCY; REQUESTING 
RECERTIFICATION BY THE BROWARD COUNTY PLANNING COUNCIL; AND PROVIDING FOR AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. (APPLICATION NO. PA-20-4){Approved on First Reading - October 8, 2020.} 
 
The following motion was made by Vice Mayor Hartmann, seconded by Council Member Jablonski 
and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION:   TO APPROVE THE ORDINANCE ON SECOND READING. 
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13. AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, AMENDING THE 
TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES UNIFIED LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE (“ULDC”) TO CREATE A 
NEW ZONING CLASSIFICATION ENTITLED, “US HIGHWAY 27 PLANNED BUSINESS DISTRICT” 
PROVIDING FOR DISTRICT REGULATIONS AND RELATED AMENDMENTS; PROVIDING FOR 
CODIFICATION; PROVIDING FOR CONFLICT, PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. {Approved on First Reading – October 8, 2020} 
 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Vice Mayor Hartmann 
and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION:   TO APPROVE THE ORDINANCE ON SECOND READING. 
 
Resolutions 
14. A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, 
FLORIDA, AUTHORIZING A PURCHASE ORDER TO AMERICAN PRIDE MECHANICAL IN THE 
AMOUNT OF TWENTY EIGHT THOUSAND, FOUR HUNDRED AND FORTY EIGHT DOLLARS AND 
ZERO CENTS ($28,448.00) TO REPLACE FIVE AIR-CONDITIONER UNITS SERVICING THE TOWN 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS AND TOWN HALL ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR, 
TOWN ADMINISTRATOR, AND TOWN ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Vice Mayor Hartmann 
and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION:  TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION. 
 
Discussion 
15. Annual Review of Charter Officials – Tabled from January 28, 2021 

a. Andrew Berns 
b. Russell Muñiz 
c. Martin Sherwood 

15a 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Vice Mayor Hartmann 
and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, and Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes 
 
MOTION:   TO APPROVE A 3% SALARY INCREASE RETROACTIVE TO JANUARY 1ST 2021 
FOR TOWN ADMINISTRATOR ANDREW BERNS. 
 
15b 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Council Member 
Kuczenski and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, and Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes. 
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MOTION:   TO APPROVE A 3% SALARY INCREASE RETROACTIVE TO JANUARY 1ST 2021 
FOR ASSISTANT TOWN ADMINISTRATOR/TOWN CLERK RUSSELL MUÑIZ. 
15c 
The following motion was made by Vice Mayor Hartmann, seconded by Council Member Kuczenski 
and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, and Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes. 
 
MOTION:   TO APPROVE A 3% SALARY INCREASE RETROACTIVE TO JANUARY 1ST 2021 
FOR TOWN FINANCIAL DIRECTOR MARTIN SHERWOOD. 
 
16. Proposed FY 2021-2022 Budget Calendar 

 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Vice Mayor Hartmann 
and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION:     TO ADOPT THE FY 2021-2022 BUDGET CALENDAR. 
 
17. Approval of Minutes 

a. October 8, 2020 Regular Meeting 
b. October 22, 2020 Regular Meeting 
c. November 19, 2020 Regular Meeting 
d. December 10, 2020 Regular Meeting 

 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Council Member 
Allbritton and passed by 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows:  Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann, Mayor Breitkreuz voting Yes.    
 
MOTION:  TO APPROVE THE OCTOBER 8, 2020, OCTOBER 22, 2020, NOVEMBER 19, 
2020 AND THE DECEMBER 10, 2020 REGULAR MEETING MINUTES. 
 
18. Adjournment 
Meeting was adjourned at 9:58 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
                                    
 
Russell Muñiz, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk 
 
Adopted by the Town Council on this 25th day of March, 2021. 
 
      
Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor 
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PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES 286.0105, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC THAT 
IF A PERSON DECIDES TO APPEAL ANY DECISION MADE BY THIS COUNCIL WITH RESPECT TO 
ANY MATTER CONSIDERED AT ITS MEETING OR HEARING, HE OR SHE WILL NEED A RECORD 
OF THE PROCEEDINGS, AND THAT FOR SUCH PURPOSE, THE AFFECTED PERSON MAY NEED TO 
ENSURE THAT VERBATIM RECORD OF THE PROCEEDING IS MADE, WHICH RECORD INCLUDES 
THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE UPON WHICH THE APPEAL IS TO BE BASED THIS NOTICE DOES 
NOT CONSTITUTE CONSENT BY THE TOWN FOR THE INTRODUCTION OR ADMISSION OF 
OTHERWISE INADMISSIBLE OR IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE, NOR DOES IT AUTHORIZE 
CHALLENGES OR APPEALS NOT OTHERWISE ALLOWED BY LAW. 
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REGULAR MEETING MINUTES OF THE TOWN COUNCIL 
Southwest Ranches, Florida 

 
Thursday 7:00 PM                    February 25, 2021                      13400 Griffin Road 
Present:                                                                         
Mayor Steve Breitkreuz                                                          Andrew Berns, Town Administrator 
Vice Mayor Bob Hartmann           Russell Muñiz, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk 
Council Member Jim Allbritton                  Martin D. Sherwood, Town Financial Administrator 
Council Member Gary Jablonski                                                 Keith Poliakoff, Town Attorney 
Council Member David S. Kuczenski                                                  
                  
Regular Meeting of the Town Council of Southwest Ranches was held virtually via the ZOOM 
meeting platform. The meeting, having been properly noticed, was called to order by Mayor 
Breitkreuz at 7:05 PM. Attendance was noted by roll call and was followed by the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
Quasi-Judicial Hearings 
3. A RESOLUTION AND FINAL ORDER OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, APPROVING WAIVER OF PLAT APPLICATION NO. WP-27-20 
TO SUBDIVIDE 4.42 NET ACRES OF PROPERTY INTO TWO LOTS OF 2.0 AND 2.42 ACRES; 
GENERALLY LOCATED AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF THE MUSTANG AND APPALOOSA 
TRAILS INTERSECTION; LEGALLY DESCRIBED AS THE SOUTH HALF OF TRACT 37, LESS THE 
SOUTH 40 FEET AND LESS THE EAST 20 FEET THEREOF, SECTION 2, TOWNSHIP 51 SOUTH, 
RANGE 40 EAST OF THE EVERGLADES SUGAR AND LAND CO. SUBDIVISION, ACCORDING TO 
TTHE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 2, PAGE 39 OF THE PUBLIC RECORDS OF DADE 
COUNTY, FLORIDA, SAID LANDS LYING AND BEING SITUATE IN BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA; 
AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR, AND TOWN ATTORNEY TO EXECUTE ANY 
AND ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO PROPERLY TO EFFECTUATE THE INTENT OF THIS 
RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR RECORDATION; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. {Tabled 
from February 11, 2021} 
 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Council Member 
Kuczenski and passed by a 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows: Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann and Mayor Breitkreuz voting yes. 
 

 MOTION: TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION SUBJECT TO “OPTION A” WHEREIN THE 
APPLICANT AGREES TO THE FOLOWING STIPULATIONS:  THAT THE OUT BUILDING 
WILL NOT BE REBUILT IF DAMAGED OR DESTROYED UNLESS IN CONFORMANCE 
WITH THE 25 FOOT SETBACK REQUIREMENTS AND SHOULD THE PROPERTY LOSE THE 
AGRICULTURAL CLASSIFICATION BOTH THE OUT BUILDING AND THE SMALLER ONE 
TO THE SOUTH WILL IMMEDIATELY BE BROUGHT INTO COMPLIANCE WITH ALL 
ZONING REQUIREMENTS. 
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4. A RESOLUTION AND FINAL ORDER OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF 
SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, APPROVING APPLICATION NO. PL-55-20, THE ASAD 
RESIDENCE PLAT, COMPRISING 1 SINGLE-FAMILY DWELLING LOT ON 4.59 ACRES; GENERALLY 
LOCATED ON THE NORTH SIDE OF STIRLING ROAD APPROXIMATELY 500 FEET EAST OF 
HOLATEE TRAIL; AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR, TOWN ADMINISTRATOR, AND TOWN ATTORNEY 
TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO EFFECTUATE THE INTENT OF THIS 
RESOLUTION; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Council Member 
Kuczenski and passed by a 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows: Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann and Mayor Breitkreuz voting yes. 
 

 MOTION: TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION. 
 
5. Public Comment 
The following member of the public addressed the Town Council: George Cailis. 
 
6. Board Reports 
Rose Allbritton, representing the Rural Public Arts Board, made a request of $5,000 for a mural 
painting at Founder’s Park.   
 
George Morris, Chair of the Drainage and Infrastructure Advisory Board, spoke about the 
Stormwater Planning Workshop that was held earlier in the evening.  He thanked Public Works 
Director Rod Ley and his staff for organizing the workshop and felt that he learned some great 
information.  He also mentioned that the Aster Knight Parks Foundation, of which he is a member, 
is seeking to hold a carnival next year to raise funds for our parks at the Rolling Oaks Barn.    
 
Jason Halberg, Chair of the Comprehensive Plan Advisory Board advised that the Board was 
working on a proposal that would require new residential developments to set aside a certain 
amount of land for horses and barns.  He asked that a workshop with the Town Council be set so 
that guidance could be given.  He also advised that the Board was working on a proposal to amend 
the language in the Unified Land Development Code (ULDC) to restrict certain changes in the 
Town’s zoning districts.  The proposal would require that any rezoning of a property could only 
be rezoned to the least dense zoning contiguous to it.     
 
Debbie Green, the Schools and Education Advisory Board Treasurer spoke about the success of 
the Flaming Flocking Campaign for the Town Scholarship Fund.    
 
7. Council Member Comments 
Council Member Kuczenski, responding to the concerns raised by Rural Public Arts Board Member 
Rose Allbritton made the following motion. 
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The following motion was made by Council Member Kuczenski, seconded by Council Member 
Jablonski and passed by a 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows: Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann and Mayor Breitkreuz voting yes. 
 

 MOTION: TO ALLOCATE $5,000 FOR COSTS ASSOCIATED WITH PAINTING A MURAL 
AT FOUNDER’S PARK.   

 
After further discussion the following motion was made: 
 
The following motion was made by Council Member Kuczenski, seconded by Council Member 
Jablonski and passed by a 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows: Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann and Mayor Breitkreuz voting yes. 
 
MOTION: TO PLACE THIS ITEM AS A DISCUSSION ITEM ON THE MARCH 11, 2021 
MEETING.    
 
Council Member Jablonski advised that the License Plate Reader (LPR) cameras at Rolling Oaks 
would be operational in March.  He also asked that staff provide an update on the COVID-19 
testing that was scheduled for March 11-13th at Rolling Oaks Park.  He advised that a shoe 
donation collection box had been set out in front of Town Hall in support of National Shoe Day.  
He advised that a new Rolling Oaks sign was erected to replace one that was damaged from a 
car accident.  He further advised that he visited the property of George Cailis and was working on 
examining potential solutions to the situation he is experiencing with his neighbor.   
 
Council Member Allbritton spoke about the new radar units that were acquired for use by Davie 
Police and already noticed increased Davie Police activity writing tickets throughout the Town.  He 
felt that the speeding behavior is responding to the increased enforcement.  He advised that he 
still had some signs available for purchase if anybody wanted any.   
 
Vice Mayor Hartmann spoke about the Quasi-Judicial portion of Town Council meetings.  He 
advised that the Town Council essentially serves as a judge and must consider evidence presented 
before making a decision.  What was important to note was that projects needed to be considered 
on the evidence presented and the Town had little discretion in denying the request if it met the 
Code without risking a lawsuit.  He indicated his favor of the new Rolling Oaks sign and would like 
to see one acquired for Country Estates.   He also indicated that he noticed an increased Davie 
Police traffic enforcement.  Lastly, he indicated his support of the Town Carnival idea suggested 
during Board reports.   
 
Mayor Breitkreuz also spoke about the stepped-up traffic enforcement and felt this was possible 
because of the acquisition of the new laser units.  He recognized Public Works Director Ley and 
Community Services Manager Emily Aceti for their efforts regarding the Stormwater Planning 
Workshop.  He felt it was informative, and it was great that the Town’s partners were part of it 
and provided great information to the residents.  He urged residents to complete the survey that 
they will find in this month’s newsletter.  He advised them that the responses will help formulate 
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data that may identify Town trends on various subjects which would help the Town Council best 
represent the Town.  He thanked Mr. Cailis for keeping the Town informed on the ongoing issues 
with his neighbor.  He also spoke about the proposal to hold a Town Carnival.  While he supported 
the concept, he wanted more information as he was concerned about the noise for the 
surrounding neighbors. Lastly, he advised that he and a several other Council Members would be 
at the CC Homes site on Saturday morning February 27th to tour the former Sessa property to see 
if there were any artifacts that could be preserved for posterity.    
 
8. Legal Comments 
Town Attorney Poliakoff advised that Pembroke Pines won an appeal against Core Civic Group, 
based on an Equal Protections claim.  He assured the Town Council this had no bearing on the 
Town’s case against Pembroke Pines as our case did not have an Equal Protections claim.   He 
also spoke of a phone conversation had by Town Administrator Berns with the senator sponsoring 
Senate Bill 88 in the Florida Legislature.  The bill concerns agritourism and parties within 
communities.  He has drafted amending language that he has sent to the Florida Legislature so 
that it has less impact on the Town.   
 
9. Administration Comments  
Town Administrator Berns also spoke about his discussion with Senator Brodeur regarding SB 88.  
He congratulated Public Works Director Ley and Community Services Manager Aceti on the 
successful workshop held earlier in the meeting. He indicated that a collection box was being set 
out in front of Town Hall for the Community Survey.  He advised that Davie Police had expressed 
a desire to do some training at the CC Homes site before the structures are demolished.  Lastly, 
he advised that the Town planned to bring a resolution to purchase 3 radar units for traffic 
enforcement by Davie Police. He asked Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk Muñiz to speak 
about the COVID-19 testing and the shoe Drive.  
 
Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk Muñiz advised that the testing would take place at the 
Rolling Oaks Barn on March 11th through the 13th.  Antibody and COVID-19 testing would be 
offered, as well as pre-registration for the vaccine once it becomes available.   He advised that in 
partnership with the Village of Bal Harbour, the Town of Miami Lakes, and the students of 
Archbishop McCarty in a shoe drive benefiting Camillus House to assist the homeless shelters in 
Miami.       
 
Ordinance – 1st Reading 
10. AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, FLORIDA, CONCERNING 
WATER PROTECTION AND CONSERVATION; PROVIDING FOR LANDSCAPE IRRIGATION 
RESTRICTIONS AND EXEMPTIONS; PROVIDING FOR ENFORCEMENT AND PENALTIES; 
PROVIDING FOR ADMINISTRATIVE VARIANCE RELIEF; PROVIDING FOR CODIFICATION; 
PROVIDING FOR THE REPEAL OF ALL CONFLICTING ORDINANCES; PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
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The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Vice Mayor Hartmann 
and passed by a 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows: Council Members Allbritton, Jablonski, 
Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann and Mayor Breitkreuz voting yes. 
 
MOTION: TO APPROVE THE ORDINANCE ON FIRST READING. 
 
Resolutions 
11. A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF SOUTHWEST RANCHES, 
FLORIDA, APPROVING A PURCHASE ORDER PIGGYBACKING OFF OF THE CITY OF FORT 
LAUDERDALE’S AGREEMENT WITH E-SCIENCES INCORPORATED FOR ENVIRONMENTAL 
PERMITTING SERVICES IN THE AMOUNT OF TWENTY-ONE THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED FORTY 
DOLLARS AND ZERO CENTS ($21,640.00) FOR THE TOWN’S ANNUAL REPORT REQUIRED BY THE 
FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (FDEP) NATIONAL POLLUTANT 
DISCHARGE ELIMINATION SYSTEM (NPDES) MUNICIPAL SEPARATE STORM SEWER SYSTEM 
(MS4) PERMIT NUMBER FLS000016-004; AUTHORIZING THE TOWN ADMINISTRATOR TO 
EXECUTE THE PURCHASE ORDER; AND PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 
 
The following motion was made by Council Member Jablonski, seconded by Council Member 
Allbritton and passed by a 5-0 roll call vote. The vote was as follows: Council Members Allbritton, 
Jablonski, Kuczenski, Vice Mayor Hartmann and Mayor Breitkreuz voting yes. 
 

 MOTION: TO APPROVE THE RESOLUTION. 
 
12. Adjournment 
 
Meeting was adjourned at 8:42 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted: 
 
 
                                    
 
Russell Muñiz, Assistant Town Administrator/Town Clerk 
 
Adopted by the Town Council on this day of March 25, 2021 
 
 
      
Steve Breitkreuz, Mayor 
 
PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTES 286.0105, THE TOWN HEREBY ADVISES THE PUBLIC THAT 
IF A PERSON DECIDES TO APPEAL ANY DECISION MADE BY THIS COUNCIL WITH RESPECT TO 
ANY MATTER CONSIDERED AT ITS MEETING OR HEARING, HE OR SHE WILL NEED A RECORD 
OF THE PROCEEDINGS, AND THAT FOR SUCH PURPOSE, THE AFFECTED PERSON MAY NEED TO 
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ENSURE THAT VERBATIM RECORD OF THE PROCEEDING IS MADE, WHICH RECORD INCLUDES 
THE TESTIMONY AND EVIDENCE UPON WHICH THE APPEAL IS TO BE BASED THIS NOTICE DOES 
NOT CONSTITUTE CONSENT BY THE TOWN FOR THE INTRODUCTION OR ADMISSION OF 
OTHERWISE INADMISSIBLE OR IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE, NOR DOES IT AUTHORIZE 
CHALLENGES OR APPEALS NOT OTHERWISE ALLOWED BY LAW. 
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